

11/29/2012

Page 1

STATE OF MICHIGAN
DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
REGULAR MEETING

PAGE 1 TO 69

Taken at 1300 Beaubien, Room 328A,
Police Headquarters,
Detroit, Michigan, 48226,
Commencing at 3:14 p.m.,
Thursday, November 29th, 2012,
Before Elizabeth Koller, CSR-7042.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

APPEARANCES:

MS. CELIA BANKS WASHINGTON (P54338)

Attorney to the Board

Detroit Board of Police Commissioners

1300 Beaubien, Room 328

Detroit, Michigan 48226

(313) 596-1835

Appearing on behalf of the Board of Police
Commissioners.

COMMISSIONERS:

JEROME WARFIELD, CHAIRMAN

DONNELL WHITE, REGULAR MEMBER

JESSICA TAYLOR, VICE CHAIRPERSON

ALSO PRESENT:

GEORGE ANTHONY, SECRETARY

CHESTER LOGAN, INTERIM CHIEF

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 November 29, 2012

3 About 3:14 p.m.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Good afternoon, ladies
5 and gentlemen. Are we ready? Welcome to the Board of
6 Police Commissioners meeting. My name is Jerome
7 Warfield, Chairman of the Board of Police
8 Commissioners. Serving with me today is the Vice
9 Chairperson Commissioner Jessica Taylor. The Chief of
10 Police is here, Chief Chester Logan, sir, good
11 afternoon. And we also have our Board Secretary,
12 Mr. George Anthony sitting at the table.

13 I'm going to ask if Mr. Anthony could
14 introduce our staff that's present, please?

15 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
16 For the record, George Anthony, Secretary to the Board.
17 We have present Ms. Pamela Davis Drake who is our Chief
18 Investigator seated in the front, Ms. Loletha Porter
19 Coleman who is our Director of Police Personnel,
20 Ms. Celia Banks Washington who is our Attorney to the
21 Board. We also have present Mr. Robert Brown standing
22 in back who is our Office Manager, recording our
23 proceedings is Sergeant Alan Quinn, and Ms. Elizabeth
24 Koller from Hanson Court Reporting Service. That
25 completes the introductions.

1 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Mr. Anthony.
2 And present right now we do not have quorum, but we do
3 expect to have quorum during this meeting. We know
4 that a Commissioner's on his way so we're just waiting
5 for him to show up before we enter into our voting
6 matters.

7 But I do want to welcome to the podium
8 Chaplain Pastor James Powell to lead us in our
9 invocation for today's meeting. Thank you, sir, good
10 to see you.

11 CHAPLIN POWELL: Good afternoon, Chief, our
12 Board, God bless you. Let us look to the Lord. Lord
13 God of grace, in the name of Jesus, we thank you, Lord,
14 for your tender mercy and your loving kindness. Lord,
15 we thank you how you look down upon us and started us
16 on our way today asking you, Lord, as we meet and draw
17 our minds together, Lord, just to bless.

18 Help us to be one mind, help us to be of one
19 heart, help us, Lord God, to grow this City and, Lord
20 God, to grow one another. Look down upon the citizens,
21 Lord God, of the great City, look down upon our Mayor,
22 our Chief, Lord God, also our Officers.

23 Bless this Commission, Lord God, let their
24 blessing be upon them, and let your will be done.
25 Bless each and every one of us, Lord. Help us to serve

1 you and to love your word. In Jesus name, Amen.

2 AUDIENCE: Amen.

3 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Pastor Powell.

4 We will come back to our voting matters as relates to
5 the agenda and as relates to the minutes and other
6 issues once we receive quorum.

7 I do want to give an update under the
8 Chairman's Report. I do want to give an update as
9 relates to where we stand in the search for a new
10 Police Chief, and that is we're still searching for
11 monies, revenues to conduct the search.

12 And I've said it before and I think it needs
13 to be repeated, the reason that this Board has been so
14 diligent in carrying out this particular responsibility
15 and we've been so laser focused is because we're
16 setting precedents, and we're setting precedents for
17 Boards that will come after us, and we want to make
18 sure that we preserve the integrity and we preserve the
19 process, this democratic process moving forward.

20 And we are very serious about our commitment
21 in it and we are diligently looking for funds in the
22 City and outside of the City in an effort to make sure
23 that we're able to conduct this search and do it in a
24 way that is professional and that is far sweeping, but
25 at the same time that it seriously looks after or looks

1 for a suitable candidate for Chief of Police for the
2 City of Detroit.

3 It's very difficult for us to divert our
4 attention to other matters when that is still out there
5 on the table. Why? Because we heard the voters loud
6 and clear to the tune of some 60 percent of the voters
7 who went to the polls last August and said that they
8 wanted this approach to be addressed and taken care of
9 by this Board.

10 So we will work with the Mayor's Office and
11 we will work with the philanthropic community and
12 everybody else, City Council, to make sure that we
13 uphold the wishes and demands and dictates of the
14 Detroit City Charter as well as the citizens of the
15 City of Detroit.

16 So I'm asking you all for your prayers and
17 for your suggestions, if you have better ways that we
18 can do it let us know. But as you know we've already
19 conducted our community forum to get input. We've
20 already looked at several companies and selected two
21 and we want to move forward this process. Why?
22 Because the City demands that it be done, and so we are
23 laser focused on that task that is in front of us.

24 We do know that there are other agenda items
25 that have to be addressed eventually, but right now

1 it's hard for us to move forward with anything
2 understanding that that major item is left undone. And
3 so to that tune I want you to know that this Board is
4 very serious and very diligent about responsibilities
5 that has been assigned to it.

6 We also want to just thank those people in
7 the audience for your support and the Officers. We've
8 heard a lot of support and a lot of comments on just
9 the way that we move this process forward and we're
10 staying on task, and so we thank you for your support
11 and for your prayers. It means a lot to us.

12 For the record, we want to reflect that we do
13 have a quorum, Commissioner White has joined us.
14 Commissioner Donnell White, good to see you, sir.

15 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

16 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: At this time I want to
17 entertain a motion to approve today's agenda.

18 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: So move.

19 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Support.

20 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: It's been properly moved
21 and supported. Without discussion, all those in favor?

22 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

23 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Any opposed? Motion
24 carries. I'll also entertain a motion to approve the
25 minutes from Thursday's meeting, November 8th, 2012.

1 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: So moved.

2 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Support.

3 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: It's been properly moved
4 and supported. All those in favor?

5 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

6 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: All those opposed?
7 Motion carries. And finally entertain a motion to
8 approve the minutes from Thursday, November 15th, 2012?

9 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So move.

10 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Support.

11 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: It's been properly moved
12 and supported. Without objection, all those in favor?

13 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

14 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: At this time I'm going to
15 ask if the Chief Investigator will come and share with
16 us the Office of Chief Investigators monthly report.

17 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
18 Pamela Davis Drake, Chief Investigator. For this month
19 our current cases the total number of cases are 219.
20 We do have two cases that are overdue 90 days.
21 However, that is because we have been scrutinizing
22 cases more closely and we are looking for quality not
23 just trying to get them done in a certain period of
24 time ninety days, but looking at quality of the report.

25 Those, it should be noted, are with the

1 Supervisors for a second review and they should be on
2 my desk by tomorrow, so they'll be closed out before
3 the end of business tomorrow.

4 In cooperation with our IT Department we
5 completed the updates that OCI requested for the MAS
6 System, and we feel that those updates will allow us to
7 run more efficiently and effectively and also ensure
8 that the citizens complaints are completed and
9 addressed in a timely fashion.

10 We'll conduct a strategic planning session
11 probably by the end of this year. We're hoping we can
12 get it in within the next couple weeks and that, of
13 course, will help us with long-term and future planning
14 and to address some goals that we have for the coming
15 year.

16 The Supervisors began as we told you last
17 month reviewing complaint reviews, looking at tapes,
18 audio and video footage, also sitting in on guaranties
19 and listening to witness statements and so forth.

20 And we did find some areas in October, I just
21 got the reports in as a matter of fact this morning,
22 from the Supervisors and we did see some areas of
23 improvement that needed to be worked on. So we're
24 hoping to conduct a training the beginning of January
25 to address those observations.

1 Finally, as you all know we are interviewing
2 for five new Investigators. We hope to complete the
3 interview process within the next two weeks and
4 hopefully per our chair we will be making some
5 decisions by the end of the year.

6 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Chief
7 Investigator. Any questions for Chief Investigator?

8 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: No.

9 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: I certainly want to thank
10 you and commend you and your staff for doing a job well
11 done. However, I do want you all to please inform us
12 of any resources that you have. I know we've spent a
13 lot of time over there this week in the offices and did
14 notice from a computer perspective and very
15 specifically the hard drives and stuff we might need to
16 update some things because in talking with the some of
17 the Investigators we did find out that some of the
18 systems are running a lot slower and not only are they
19 running slower but some are, you know, up some days and
20 then down some days.

21 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Yes, sir.

22 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: And we want to become
23 more efficient in that, and so if we can help advocate
24 for you as relates to that please let us know so we can
25 fix that issue that I think will even make you all a

1 little bit more efficient.

2 But I'm telling you it tickles me to see a
3 total number of cases 219 when again when we first came
4 on board we're looking at almost 2,000 and now we have
5 219 because of your diligence and your hard work, just
6 an awesome job between you and certainly Celia Banks
7 Washington and George Anthony and just the entire staff
8 over there.

9 So please give them our regards and the fact
10 that we are patting them on the back for just an
11 outstanding job. And I want to thank you, the Chief of
12 Police and his staff because obviously the message is
13 getting out there to pay particular attention to
14 certain behaviors because certainly I think the number
15 of complaints we get have diminished significantly.

16 So I think it is an all-inclusive effort on
17 every part that this Department is moving in the right
18 direction, that's why we cannot lose the efforts and
19 the gains that we've made under this consent decree
20 because it's now policy of this Department.

21 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Absolutely.

22 CHIEF LOGAN: Through the Chair, Interim
23 Chief Logan. That's one of the things I'd really like
24 to speak to because when we talk about our consent
25 judgement we have to not only be in compliance, we've

1 got to show sustainability. And if you look at the
2 last two months of the data that we have for October
3 and for November you'll see there's been a tremendous
4 reduction in the amount of citizen complaints.

5 One of the things that research tells us is
6 that we should see the exact opposite because of the
7 austere times that we're going through citizen
8 complaints tend to rise. But thanks to the men and
9 women out there on the street doing their job we're
10 actually seeing a steady decline. They're to be
11 commended.

12 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Absolutely. Thank you,
13 sir.

14 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Mr. Chair, if I may, I
15 would also like to commend the Police Department and
16 all of it's efforts for assisting us in anyway
17 possible, making sure the Officers arrive at a timely
18 fashion for those guaranties, getting them in and
19 getting them completed. We very much appreciate that.

20 So all the efforts of the Police Department
21 to help us become more efficient and effective we very
22 much appreciate.

23 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: And there is another area
24 we'll visit under Old Business, Chief, I want to see if
25 we do have an update on the number of cars that are

1 equipped and functioning with video cameras and with
2 mics because as you and I talked about there was a case
3 of an incident that happened inside one of the
4 Departments where a citizen was alleging that they were
5 mistreated by the staff but because we were able to
6 capture it on video and had excellent sound we were
7 able to exonerate that whole staff and they went by the
8 book every step of the way.

9 And we desperately need the cameras in the
10 cars while working as well as sound working because
11 there's still too many cases that come across my desk
12 where the video and/or the audio should be working and
13 it's not working.

14 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: I will definitely have
15 those numbers for you, sir, as soon as possible. I
16 don't know if the Chief can assist with that?

17 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, you want that covered
18 under Old Business?

19 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: We can do it in Old
20 Business. We'll do it in Old Business.

21 Any other questions for Chief Investigator?
22 Thank you, ma'am, appreciate your report.

23 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Thank you.

24 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: You know what? Chief
25 Investigator, can you stand there since you're there

1 and you had submitted to us a disciplinary, a
2 progressive disciplinary policy.

3 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Yes, sir.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: We've had an opportunity
5 to look over it and review it. And is there any
6 overall comments you would like to make before we make
7 a decision on this?

8 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Well, sir, we have already
9 implemented some of it and it's provisional. Obviously
10 it is at the Board's pleasure as to whether or not you
11 accept it. But we have been using it. It does seem to
12 be working effectively. Staff is aware that we do have
13 some policy that is provisionally in place. We'd like
14 to move forward with it.

15 Certainly we're open for suggestion. This is
16 just a draft so if there are any comments or
17 suggestions, any amendments that you or the Board would
18 like to make we are certainly are receptive to that.

19 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you. Any comments
20 for Chief Investigator regarding the progressive
21 disciplinary action policy?

22 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Chief, if you could for
23 the record, what was in place prior to this document
24 and what facilitated the need for this and it's a very
25 thorough document, but what facilitated the need for

1 this document to be put in place?

2 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Well, my understanding is
3 that we didn't have anything formally within our
4 Department within OCI and so we needed something so
5 that we could keep our Investigators on track.

6 We did have a couple of deficiencies
7 consistently with a couple of people, one in
8 particular, and we needed something to address that.
9 And moving forward this will assist us in keeping our
10 Investigators on the right track just knowing that it
11 exists does help.

12 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And on the provisional
13 status that you have implemented with this policy, how
14 has it been received by members of OCI?

15 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: It has been very well
16 received. The Supervisors I think are more comfortable
17 with it. They feel that it is a tool for them to also
18 assist in keeping folks on the right track and helping
19 even in bringing folks up to speed.

20 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And lastly for the
21 record, this policy would include all members of OCI,
22 Supervisors and regular Investigators included?

23 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: It would include everyone
24 except sworn staff.

25 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Okay. And this

1 facilitates another question, so which policy would
2 they fall up under for the record?

3 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: They will follow under
4 their current policy with the Detroit Police
5 Department.

6 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you.

7 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Commissioner
8 White. Any other discussion? Hearing or seeing none,
9 I will entertain a motion to adopt, to accept and adopt
10 the Progressive Disciplinary Action Policy of the
11 Office of Chief Investigator.

12 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So move.

13 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Second.

14 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Without objection, all
15 those in favor?

16 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

17 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: All those opposed?
18 Motion carries. Thank you, ma'am.

19 MS. DAVIS DRAKE: Thank you, sir.

20 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Outstanding job. Chief,
21 for your report, sir? I did that already. Thank you.

22 CHIEF LOGAN: Through the chair, Interim
23 Chief Logan. We -- or I don't have a formal report as
24 such. However, I do want to bring back before the
25 Board the request to do promotions. I'm asking that

1 the Board approve two Assistant Chiefs, one Deputy
2 Chief, two Inspectors, four Lieutenants, twenty
3 Sergeants.

4 Now, I'm also requesting that the Board
5 should the Board not be so inclined to consider all
6 these promotions that Board consider them in lots such
7 as two Inspectors or four Lieutenants how ever the
8 Board would like to approach it?

9 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Okay.

10 CHIEF LOGAN: And I believe that's all that I
11 have and will get Commander Romano to discuss the
12 videos and camera under Old Business.

13 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Sure. Absolutely. I do
14 believe that our office received communication today
15 from your office regarding the individuals that are
16 recommended for promotion and the Officers. I think we
17 now have their background information as well as their
18 disciplinary histories.

19 And so unfortunately I haven't seen that yet,
20 but I know our office received it and so we'll all get
21 a copy of that. We'll discuss it, of course, in open
22 forum and we'll make our decision at that particular
23 time, okay, sir?

24 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, sir.

25 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Okay. Thank you, sir,

1 appreciate it. Any questions for Chief of Police?

2 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Chief, just a quick
3 question, through the chair, with that information is
4 the budgetary impact included with that what these
5 changes will mean and in dollars?

6 CHIEF LOGAN: No, sir. Last week we had the
7 Deputy Chief of Budget. She was here. We can get her
8 back. But everything that I talk about thus far in
9 terms of promotion falls within our budget. In fact,
10 if you look at it we're forty Sergeants short and we're
11 only asking to promote twenty. We're five Inspectors
12 short, we're only asking to promote two. We're five
13 Commanders short and we're not asking to promote any
14 Commanders, and we're two Deputy Chiefs short.

15 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And again through the
16 chair, Chief, it might be good if we can have Deputy
17 Chief Toliver here at the next meeting so we don't
18 prolong it any further so if there are questions that
19 she might be able to answer for us next week and keep
20 the progress moving without having to further delay it
21 another week, so if it's at all possible to have her
22 for next week in case there's any questions on budget
23 it would be greatly appreciated.

24 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, sir.

25 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Do you have a question

1 for the Chief?

2 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: No, I don't.

3 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Chief, just been informed
4 that we received the information on two candidates for
5 Assistant Chief and the Deputy Chief. We have not
6 received the information for the Lieutenant or the
7 Inspectors or the Sergeants. We need the same
8 information, the background information for them as
9 well.

10 CHIEF LOGAN: I believe the way the letter
11 was structured for the Sergeants and Lieutenants we
12 were asking that you approve the promotions. If you
13 approve the promotion our intent was to say, okay,
14 these are the ones that we want to promote.

15 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Well, we would need to
16 see their disciplinary histories and we'll also need to
17 see their, you know, the work they've done with the
18 Department.

19 CHIEF LOGAN: We'll bring those twenty-two
20 candidates, we'll bring that information back to the
21 Board.

22 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: For the Sergeants,
23 Inspectors and Lieutenants?

24 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, sir.

25 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Okay. Great. Any other

1 questions for the Chief of Police? Thank you, sir,
2 appreciate that. I'm sorry, Commissioner White?

3 COMMISSIONER WHITE: If I could, Chief, did
4 we have an opportunity to receive the 2008 Sergeant and
5 Lieutenant promotional exam?

6 CHIEF LOGAN: Sir, we're trying to locate
7 that. Inspector Wilson was attempting to get that. To
8 be honest I don't know if he was ever able to find it.

9 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Commissioner, I believe
10 we this week had a copy of that, and so --

11 COMMISSIONER WHITE: We have?

12 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Yeah, we do have a copy
13 of that for you.

14 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Okay.

15 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Absolutely. Any other
16 questions for the Chief? Okay. All right. Thank you,
17 sir, appreciate it.

18 At this time under New Business we have a
19 grant request and I'm going to ask if Commissioner
20 Taylor could read the grant requesting permission to
21 enter into three agreements regarding organized crime,
22 drug enforcement, and task forces?

23 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Request permission to
24 enter into three agreements regarding the organized
25 crime drug enforcement task forces. The Detroit Police

1 Department Criminal Investigations Bureau is requesting
2 to enter into three agreements with the United States
3 Department of Justice Drug Enforcement Administration
4 as part of the Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task
5 Force.

6 Through these agreements a DPD Officer will
7 participate in OCDETF investigations, strategic
8 initiatives and prosecutions specifically OCDETF
9 initiative numbers GL-MIE-0483, GL-MIE-0422, and
10 GL-MIE-0460. The Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task
11 Forces or OCDETF Program was established in 1982 to
12 mount a comprehensive attack against organized drug
13 traffickers.

14 Today the OCDETF Program is the centerpiece
15 of the United States Attorney Generals Drug strategy to
16 reduce the availability of drugs by disrupting and
17 dismantling major drug trafficking organizations and
18 money laundering organizations and related criminal
19 enterprises.

20 The program operates nationwide and combines
21 the resources and unique expertise of numerous federal
22 agencies in a coordinated attack against major drug
23 trafficking and money laundering organizations.

24 The OCDETF strategy under the direction of
25 the Deputy Attorney General, aims to focus federal drug

1 resources on reducing the flow of illicit drugs and
2 drug proceeds by identifying and targeting the major
3 trafficking organizations, eliminating the financial
4 infrastructure of drug organizations by emphasizing
5 financial investigations and asset forfeiture,
6 redirecting federal drug enforcement resources to align
7 them with existing and emerging drug threats and
8 conducting expanded nationwide investigations against
9 all the related parts of the targeted organizations.

10 If approval is granted to accept this funding
11 Deputy Chief Paul Welles of the Criminal Investigation
12 Bureau would serve as the Project Director.

13 I'm requesting the Board's permission to
14 enter into these agreements, accept this funding and
15 seek approval of Honorable Detroit City Council,
16 interim Chief of Police, Chester Logan.

17 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Is there a motion to the
18 request?

19 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Move to adopt this
20 request.

21 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Second.

22 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: It's been properly moved
23 and supported. Questions? Commissioner White?

24 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Chief, through the
25 chair, Chief, it's been significant conversations

1 and/or studies done on this war on drugs concept
2 particularly as it relates to the proliferation of
3 incarceration of young black males that it hasn't
4 yielded a reduction in drug activity.

5 In fact, drugs are more potent now than ever.
6 The access is readily available. To what degree do you
7 think our involvement in such activity would be
8 beneficial to the City and also what's your
9 professional opinion or take on organized efforts as
10 such and the increased presence of young black males
11 specifically in the penal system particular here in
12 Michigan in promoting that privatized prison
13 industrialized complex?

14 CHIEF LOGAN: Through the chair, Interim
15 Chief Logan. Sir, I'm glad you asked me those
16 questions because I had agreed with you. These task
17 forces are not geared toward the low level. These are
18 geared toward the higher level traffickers which tend
19 not to be people of color. They tend to be, well, not
20 people of color.

21 What we have available today is one of the
22 people who are involved in this effort who can speak
23 firsthand, if you allow him a few minutes.

24 SERGEANT JOHNSON: Good afternoon, Sergeant
25 Darren Johnson, assigned to Task Force Administration

1 and assigned out to the DEA Drug Enforcement
2 Administrations Task Force.

3 As the Chief spoke these efforts are far
4 beyond local. These reach out to international
5 investigations where the immense amount of narcotics
6 that are funneled into our country and through hub
7 cities and eventually end up in Metro Detroit, these
8 efforts are to curtail that.

9 They're really -- most of these people in the
10 investigations are of other nationalities, not young
11 African-American males. They're Arabic, Mexican,
12 Hispanic. These efforts have in the last two years
13 stopped an immense amount of narcotics from reaching
14 our cities and then it doesn't fall in the hands of
15 these young males who become part of the system.

16 So these efforts are trying to stop it before
17 it gets anywhere near our cities. So that's what these
18 are dollars for. And most of the contracts I believe
19 there are three each are \$6,000.00. It's more of a
20 reimbursement for any money spent by the City. The
21 government will reimburse for any overtime efforts or
22 anything that we pay out they pay it back and that's
23 what these are the three contacts. They total
24 \$18,000.00 and it's for a provisional spot for one
25 Police Officer for a Divisional Group 8 which is

1 responsible for Michigan and the whole Southeast
2 Michigan.

3 COMMISSIONER WHITE: For a point of clarity,
4 the parameters for this enforcement activity without of
5 course going into details, is it Detroit specific?

6 SERGEANT JOHNSON: Yes.

7 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Okay. And in your
8 history in working with these type of operations have
9 you seen where those dollars that were earmarked for
10 what started off in an umbrella effort become resources
11 available to targeted specifically back to my earlier
12 concerns?

13 SERGEANT JOHNSON: No, sir. The dollars are
14 earmarked to combat, combat the larger drug
15 organizations before the narcotics even come here.
16 These dollars are never earmarked for anything other
17 than -- these investigations reach out, they have
18 terrorist ties.

19 They reach far outside the City of Detroit.
20 But our ultimate goal is to make sure that these drugs
21 not even make it to our City. So we have offices in
22 Texas, another hub office in Chicago, as well as the
23 Detroit Field Office. We work in conjunction with one
24 another. And Chicago being our hub city for the City
25 of Detroit so we're responsible for intercepting

1 narcotics coming from Mexico into the United States,
2 United States to Chicago, Chicago to Detroit, and
3 that's a long-term investigation and they are of a
4 confidential nature but we do correspond with the
5 Chief.

6 We keep him apprised on what's confiscated,
7 monies, narcotics, things of that nature, so he's well
8 abreast of what goes on in these operations.

9 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you, thank you,
10 chair.

11 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Any other questions?

12 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: No questions.

13 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: I do. From the drugs
14 that are confiscated and the monies that are
15 confiscated during these activities is that money
16 divvied up between the various agencies and how does
17 that work?

18 SERGEANT JOHNSON: Yes, the equitable profit
19 sharing. The City of Detroit we have currently myself
20 and another Police Officer assigned to DEA Group 6 and
21 we receive a larger portion of the profit sharing. So
22 yes, it is divvied up between every agency. We have
23 Oakland County Sheriffs DEA. DEA gets the money off
24 the top because they handle the administrative portion
25 and it's divided amongst each group, each department

1 that comprises those individuals group, so.

2 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Is it divided by the
3 amount of hours that's put in?

4 SERGEANT JOHNSON: Yes, sir, the amount of
5 man-hours put in. And you will find the Government
6 realized that without local Police Departments they
7 have no success. They came to us begging and pleading
8 can you please put somebody back? We can't do it. We
9 have Officers here that have vast numbers of years of
10 experience in these narcotics investigations that they
11 will tell you, blatantly tell you that we're unable to
12 come and do surveillance in certain areas that give us
13 leads to other places.

14 We need the people who know how to do the
15 job. That's why we're here and that's why we're asking
16 the City of Detroit to join in our efforts, so that's
17 why we received more of a major portion of it because
18 we spend more of the man-hours because of our know-how.

19 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Absolutely. Any other
20 questions for Sergeant Johnson? Any questions for the
21 Chief? Thank you, sir, appreciate it.

22 SERGEANT JOHNSON: Thank you.

23 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: There is a motion on the
24 floor to approve the request of this grant that the
25 Department may request permission from the City

1 Council. Any other discussion? Any other discussion?
2 Hearing or seeing none, all those in favor?

3 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: All those opposed?
5 Motion carries. Thank you.

6 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Mr. Chair, if I could, I
7 just want to make sure I added some clarity if there
8 was confusion in my comments and not that the Chief or
9 the Sergeant alluded to it, but while I certainly don't
10 condone illegal activity from anyone regardless of your
11 race or status, I think -- I hope my sentiments were
12 conveyed in terms of what I was trying to articulate
13 and not just young African-Americans, but young persons
14 of color in general.

15 Organized efforts in our drug enforcement
16 have been targeted unfairly in my view and it's
17 increased our spending. There's an excellent report
18 out, and I'll get off my soapbox, an excellent report
19 out on misplaced priorities and talks about this
20 country's need or desire to incarcerate over educate,
21 and I think that's a serious problem in our community
22 in terms of where we are allocating our resources on
23 the incarceration side versus the education side.
24 Particularly on these low level drug crimes and so I'm
25 refreshed to see this focused on the top end and not on

1 the bottom end of this problem that we see all across
2 the country.

3 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Absolutely. I think we
4 share your sentiments. Thank you, sir.

5 At this time we'll move to Old Business and I
6 am going to again turn it back over to Chief that we
7 may get a report regarding the number of vehicles that
8 are equipped with video and with sound.

9 CHIEF LOGAN: Through the chair, Interim
10 Chief Logan. Commander Jeff Romeo will come and take
11 the podium, and Commander would you also give some
12 historical background on where we've been over the last
13 90 days in terms of our video system?

14 COMMANDER ROMEO: Commander Jeff Romeo from
15 the Office of Civil Rights. Yes, earlier the last year
16 around this time we were implementing the Data 911
17 system. I'll go back a little bit further, Chief.
18 Throughout all of this year they were implementing the
19 Data 911 systems in the new vehicles and they were
20 starting to retrofit some of the older vehicles, so we
21 have two systems in place now, the old system that
22 we've been using and Data 911 system.

23 There's approximately 90 plus cars out there
24 now I'm aware of that had the Data 911 system. We were
25 doing inspections earlier in the year through the

1 spring and summer months and it looked like majority of
2 Patrol that were assigned to districts and precincts
3 were using Data 911 cars.

4 During the summer months there was problems
5 with the system, technological problems that I could
6 not describe to you probably very effectively because
7 I'm not a tech person, but there were issues with the
8 server. A new server was purchased.

9 The vendor worked with DPD to get it working.
10 There were some glitches. It was up and down here and
11 there. It wasn't retaining video. It was uploading
12 video. It was doing it sporadically over the last few
13 months. As of last week it's operational, though.

14 So we put out a message, an administrative
15 message to all Commands that's it up and running now,
16 so when they do their investigations to start looking
17 for that video and audio for any events that require
18 review for investigations.

19 What we also implemented this week is we had
20 a procedure for doing weekly reviews of traffic stops
21 at least one traffic shift each Command. What we
22 implemented this week was to get more data and make
23 sure people are aware it's up and running, the Officers
24 are aware we're looking at this information is to twice
25 a week reviews each Command.

1 So we'll start getting that documentation
2 from the Commands next week and we'll see what the
3 results are of traffic stops by the Officers activating
4 the mics during traffic stops. The audio -- the
5 video's pretty automatic pretty much so if they
6 activate the overheads the audio already's going. It's
7 going to record. It's going to activate the mics
8 itself actually unless the Officer doesn't have the
9 microphone actually turned on. So we should have seen
10 an increase in video going forward.

11 And I know Technical Services is starting to
12 retrofit some of the older vehicles as well with the
13 new Data 911 system. I think the plan is get up to 150
14 cars equipped with the new Data 911 system.

15 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Any questions for
16 Commander Romeo?

17 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Commander, has the
18 wearable mics has that been distributed to all the
19 Officers?

20 COMMANDER ROMEO: Every vehicle comes
21 equipped with microphone, two microphones and it has a
22 charger in the vehicle so they're all equipped with
23 microphones. There are additional microphones that
24 have been obtained. They haven't all been disseminated
25 yet.

1 The Northeastern District I believe has a
2 number of microphones. They're working on getting the
3 other ones disseminated. They want to make sure they
4 inventory them and make sure they get some kind of
5 identification so we know what mics are what. Those
6 are going to be disseminated hopefully before the end
7 of the year the ones we have.

8 I don't think we have enough for all
9 Departments quite yet, but those will be coming in
10 stages.

11 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Commander, from your
12 perspective how is this new technology being embraced
13 by the men and women of the Department?

14 COMMANDER ROMEO: I think it's being
15 embraced. I think there are probably some people that
16 don't like it obviously. Is it a tough thing to be
17 followed around basically when you have this
18 technology, but, you know, Officers can control their
19 fate. Like you say you can clear yourself for an
20 event.

21 And I've seen some great videos for different
22 incidents where Officers have stopped people and
23 they've recorded incidents where they found a gun,
24 activate the mic and they're recording what this person
25 is saying to them, this gun's laying in the backseat of

1 the car. So they know what to do, when to do it, I
2 think a lot of them.

3 The ones that don't, we'll identify those
4 people through these traffic stop or video reviews that
5 I think we're going to do on a weekly basis, and that's
6 not going to go away. That procedure is going to exist
7 per policy.

8 We just ramped it up this last month in a
9 week of the year, and we're hoping to ramped it down
10 sometime early next year to do it once a week, but we
11 wanted to see where we're at with this as soon as
12 possible so we ramped it up once we learn the systems
13 back up and running, though.

14 COMMISSIONER WHITE: One last question.
15 Commander, what role does Command Staff or Shift
16 Sergeants play? Is there only a review or is this used
17 as a tool opposite of when there's an event? So is it
18 used to not necessarily monitor but evaluate the men
19 and woman on the streets?

20 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yeah, that's the purpose of
21 the traffic stop reviews is for training and integrity
22 purposes. So, you know, there are incidents where
23 Officers make traffic stops. They didn't position
24 themselves with their body properly and in some
25 instances the cars wasn't properly positioned and

1 sometimes there's exigent circumstances, so those are
2 things that are looked at as well. Sometimes people
3 want to jump out of a car. So, yeah, those are all
4 looked at and that's part of the review process when
5 they document the reviews that they're looking at
6 training and integrity issues.

7 And sometimes they see issues related to
8 arrests and issues like that that where something
9 probably could have been handled differently, so
10 they're taking it on themselves as Supervisors and
11 they've been trained to do this to reinstruct Officers
12 or counsel them to make sure they do things betting
13 going forward.

14 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you, thank you.

15 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Any questions?

16 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: No questions.

17 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Sir, how many cars should
18 be equipped right now with either that Data 911 and/or
19 the old system?

20 COMMANDER ROMEO: We all want a hundred
21 percent really of the people that are out there on
22 patrol and dealing with citizens on a regular basis, we
23 want to have -- there's certain entities that don't
24 have all of the equipment but generally most Commands
25 have it already.

1 They either have the old system or new
2 system. There aren't too many cars out there deployed
3 without video.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: So how many would on a
5 percentage basis, I know it's a guess, it's a rough
6 guess, how many would you say, how many cars are
7 equipped with some type of video/audio system in it?

8 COMMANDER ROMEO: I'd say about 90 percent.

9 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: About 90 percent. All
10 right. Of that 90 percent that's equipped either with
11 Data 911 or with the old system --

12 CHIEF LOGAN: Insight.

13 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: I'm sorry, Insight, thank
14 you -- or Insight how easy or I shouldn't say -- strike
15 that.

16 How can those systems be deactivated so that
17 video and/or sound is not captured?

18 COMMANDER ROMEO: Well, the older system, the
19 Insight system is easier to have issues with the
20 microphone. It's older equipment. The microphones
21 aren't as reliable. So we have issues more with audio
22 with that system. The video those are also activated
23 by the overhead lights, too.

24 It's actually recording all the time, but
25 it's not recording in realtime. It's only recording in

1 realtime when you activate the lights or you activate
2 the mics for either system basically, so. But there
3 are more problems with the older system as reliability.

4 And one thing that's good, is easy as far as
5 disabling it. I think either one could be disabled by
6 anybody who wants to try. If you got a will there's a
7 way. But the good thing about the Data 911 system it
8 can be easily monitored by the Technology Services
9 Bureau Personnel where they can tell realtime who's
10 uploading.

11 So they can go into the system and look at
12 when this car last uploaded, and they can look at those
13 on a daily basis to see to make sure all these cars are
14 uploading a hundred percent every time.

15 We won't know if a hundred percent of the
16 video is uploading, but they'll know if the system's
17 working or not and it's capturing information.

18 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: A couple other questions,
19 please. As relates to you had mentioned earlier that
20 there was an incident that you saw was a great example
21 how the system exonerated Officers and you had
22 mentioned that the Officers had activated the mics.

23 Why do they have to activate mic? Shouldn't
24 mics be activated and engaged? Because we were told
25 that once they purchased those I think it was 1,250 or

1 1,220 mics that was going to each Officer individually
2 that it would capture the audio even when they were
3 away from the vehicle in order that we made be able to
4 ascertain, you know, the things they've done on that
5 call.

6 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yeah, that's accurate. I
7 was speaking in reference to Insight video system you
8 have to activate the mic on that one. It won't
9 activate automatically with overhead lights. You have
10 to actually click on.

11 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: How long does the battery
12 last for the mic with the Insight video?

13 COMMANDER ROMEO: You got me on that,
14 Commissioner. I'm not the sure the exact time what it
15 is. I have to find out from the tech people to get
16 more detail on how long they're working, but.

17 And that's one of the things I know during
18 training, I went to the training awhile back when it
19 was being deployed last year at Northeastern, and one
20 of the things that was brought up is sometimes there's
21 downtime when you're out there on patrol and you can
22 put it in the charger and charge it still, and then,
23 you know, at least one of you can have a mic. Ideally
24 we want both of them.

25 You know, they just got to monitor what's

1 going on because it does give indication when the
2 battery is going weak in the new system. They'll be
3 able to tell that realtime while they're working.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: You just indicated that
5 about just over 90 cars have Data 911 installed?

6 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yes.

7 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: How many approximately is
8 that, about a third of the fleet? Is that about 50
9 percent of the fleet for patrol?

10 COMMANDER ROMEO: It's the majority of the
11 fleet. I don't know what the percentage is. There are
12 a lot of vehicles out there. We have some vehicles
13 that aren't used necessarily for patrol. They're used
14 for other issues.

15 So some are not on a regular basis used out
16 there for patrol on a daily basis so those cars aren't
17 equipped, so those are part of the fleet, but we're not
18 really using those on a regular basis for patrols,
19 traffic stops, and making police runs where we're
20 having citizen interaction of that type.

21 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: So on a patrol basis then
22 over the majority -- I shouldn't say. For those cars
23 that are used for patrol operations on a daily basis
24 the majority of those cars are equipped with Data 911
25 system?

1 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yes, yes. What we're going
2 to do just for edification from our office we're going
3 to do inspections going forward, too, to see how many
4 are out there on a daily basis just pick some random
5 dates to look at how many cars are out there during
6 each twelve-hour shifts and these different groups how
7 many cars are equipped with Data 911 or the Insight
8 system and whether any were maybe not operational and
9 why did we put something out there that wasn't
10 operation if we maybe had another car that was
11 available.

12 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Do they still have to
13 check in at the beginning of their shifts if that
14 equipment is working or not because I know there was a
15 timeframe where they had to report that if their mics
16 and video were working?

17 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yes, they do. They have to
18 do an introduction in front of the camera, in front of
19 the vehicle, every beginning of tour of duty put
20 themselves in front of the camera introduce themselves.
21 And if it's not working they have to notify the
22 Supervisor and document it on their activity log.

23 And the Supervisor's job is to find out if
24 there's another vehicle available, possibly send them
25 to get it repaired before their shift starts or if not

1 there's a possibility they might have to go out without
2 a vehicle but, at least they're aware whether the
3 vehicle's operational or not and something's going to
4 be followed up on it to get it done, fixed.

5 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Just two more for me. Do
6 you know, what is our policy or do we need to develop a
7 policy for cameras and/or audio that was operational
8 and have become un-operational or deactivated in the
9 process where they should or should have been in
10 operation?

11 COMMANDER ROMEO: Well, that situation it's
12 almost like any other equipment we have. We have
13 on-duty and off-duty vehicles. We have on-duty
14 inspections. Every shift comes on, Supervisor's
15 supposed to inspect vehicles. So if it was working
16 prior to that prior shift and all of a sudden it's not
17 working, the next shift somebody needs to take
18 responsibility and investigate that, find out why the
19 equipment's not working.

20 And that's one thing we've always said, too,
21 and it's really -- that's what has to happen, an
22 investigation has to take place and find out did the
23 other shift disabled the system or what transpired to
24 make the system not work or was it just a technology
25 glitch. So something -- that is our procedure

1 basically. It's not something that needs to be left
2 unnoticed that we're just going to move on, it's not
3 working. It needs to be addressed.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: So there are procedures
5 in place that if the equipment is not working someone,
6 Supervisor, someone investigates that?

7 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yes, yes.

8 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Because I think we need
9 to just drill down. Because sometimes I understand
10 that people respect what you inspect. And, again, it's
11 just a plethora of cases that we read where there's no
12 video and there's no sound. That's still somewhat
13 alarming.

14 And then my final question and I hope I have
15 not forgotten it and I think I have forgotten it.

16 Any other questions from my colleagues?

17 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: No.

18 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: No. Thank you. Oh, it
19 wasn't a questions. It was a statement. I do want to
20 say as we've said before we believe our men and women
21 in blue just do an outstanding job. The vast majority
22 of them do. And we've seen where these cameras and
23 these mics when they are operational they exonerate a
24 lot of situations on behalf of the Officers.

25 And I think just from the CCR history of MAS

1 reports that are produced I think Officers will
2 probably have less CCRs against them if we could just
3 show the video and the documentation of what happened
4 there on the scene. That was my question.

5 My last question was for undercover cars for
6 those Officers who are working undercover or traffic
7 stops, the traffic cops cars, are they going to be
8 equipped or are they equipped with those video systems
9 as well, I mean, those who will be coming in contact
10 with citizens?

11 COMMANDER ROMEO: Yeah, my understanding is
12 new vehicles are on the way for those unmarked
13 vehicles, undercover vehicles, some unmarked vehicles
14 that are deployed at the district and precinct level
15 they're all going to be equipped with the new Data 911
16 system. Also just for the thing I'm going to ask for
17 follow up on after I heard there was video that
18 exonerated Officers. We'd love to use that for
19 training. I actually want to follow up and get a copy
20 of that if I can, that would be great.

21 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Absolutely. We said we
22 wanted to do that as well. And then finally I'm having
23 some pre-senior moments -- that's okay. I'll let that
24 one go. Thank you, sir. I appreciate it.

25 CHIEF LOGAN: He'll be available.

1 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you. We certainly
2 appreciate that. All right. Seeing no other Old
3 Business. Our next Board meeting will be Thursday,
4 December 6th, 3:00 p.m., here at Police Headquarters.

5 I also want to recognize Chief William
6 Bradley. Would you stand up, sir, and wave, who's
7 former Chief of Police from Los Angles as well as New
8 York Police Department. Sir, good to have you here in
9 our midst and our presence.

10 At this time we want to open up our floor for
11 oral communication. If you wish to address the Board
12 of Police Commissioners we ask that you come to the
13 mic, please address your comments to the Chairperson
14 and we will get you to the right people, and we ask
15 that you state your name for the record and we also ask
16 that you abide within our two-minute time limit so that
17 we can hear from as many individuals as possible. You
18 may come at this time.

19 MS. SCOTT: Ron Scott, Detroit Coalition
20 Against Police Brutality. First of all, I want to
21 thank Commissioner White for raising the questions you
22 did in relationship to the drug war. As you know
23 Michelle Alexander will be here this weekend in terms
24 of the new Jim Crow and mass incarceration that's a
25 very significant thing.

1 I know the Chief and others, all of you share
2 that concern. Relative to that I want to juxtapose two
3 things that were discussed. The drug enforcement
4 activities, and, in fact, on a low level situation
5 there's a matter that we encountered that related to
6 one of the either thirty series or other units where in
7 effect an individual allegedly and, well, subsequently
8 was convicted of a possession of and other -- a small
9 amount of possession and because the individual was, in
10 fact, had been convicted of similar crimes two times
11 before ultimately ended being incarcerated.

12 I can say now that we're going to pursue that
13 and possibly move it to appeal relative to the fact
14 that we attempted to and his attorney at the time
15 attempted to gain access to the activity log and it was
16 not -- and made it within the timeframe that it was
17 supposed to be done.

18 In most cases the evidence and this is
19 evidence retained for two years because of the appeal
20 process. But in the context of what is being raised
21 now it's only 90 days, that is -- and I want to be more
22 adamant about it.

23 I think it's an abrogation of the rights of
24 the accused. Where you and I, too, have been in a
25 similar situation we would want the full benefit as

1 with the Officers if they were going to be exonerated
2 in relationship to that. And when I attempted to get
3 the information relative to whether or not the video
4 still was retained, was told, of course, that it had
5 been -- it no longer existed after 90 days.

6 Now, I don't want to get into all of the
7 legal matters related to that, but it's my opinion that
8 it should be around as long as any other evidentiary
9 considerations would be so that the full matter can be
10 adjudicated effectively and fairly in terms of due
11 process and the right of the accused.

12 And within that context this is a low level
13 drug activity or alleged drug activity, not the high
14 level which would have been I think presented fairly
15 had either the activity log -- and I was told that the
16 activity log I'd have to see about getting that through
17 FOIA and that the activity log could not be accessed
18 and that it was in some distance place locked away
19 somewhere in a garage.

20 Now, that only raised my concerns. I mean,
21 in this day of data retrieval it should be available.
22 It should be more readily available especially
23 individuals who might want use this in relationship to
24 any pending case.

25 So I'm just saying that to juxtapose the two

1 matters. And I think the question of data retrieval,
2 question of video is more of a question of changing
3 culture than it is, in fact, of specifying of what
4 needs to be done.

5 If people do not believe that this is
6 something that they want to do then they can contradict
7 it. But if, in effect, it is conveyed adequately that
8 this is something they need to do and must do then it
9 will be done.

10 So I'm just saying I don't want more
11 litigation to arise because these things keep
12 happening. I think it should be, that should be
13 reconsidered that 90 day period is not within the
14 evidentiary rules of most courts.

15 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Mr. Scott.

16 MS. DAVIS: Hello, my name is Christine
17 Davis. I'm with AC Towing. I know you're tired of
18 hearing about the towing business but I want you to
19 understand this our livelihood and the only means of
20 trying to come to closure with this matter is continue
21 to go before you guys and whoever we can that will hear
22 us.

23 Right now what the towers are facing this
24 renewal for our 2013, our business license, our
25 insurances, our Detroit-based business inspection and

1 fees and that right there alone is over \$10,000.00.
2 Now, we don't have money just to put out there for the
3 powers to be to tell us you're no longer in business or
4 we're going to change the business, do this that or the
5 other which they've been doing.

6 We pay our workers. We have expenses as well
7 as our personal expenses. The powers to be do not
8 communicate with us. They do not tell us anything.
9 And I've been asking for communication for a meeting so
10 we can voice our questions, our concerns, our opinions,
11 and get some answers.

12 It's just not fair the way they're doing us.
13 We're working for the City of Detroit. We're paying
14 our way. We pay for everything. Our taxes. Our
15 insurance. Everything comes out of our pocket. And I
16 look around and I see people that are with wisdom.
17 People that have worked in Detroit they're
18 well-experienced, they're well-educated, self-made
19 millionaires, not from towing, though, that can help be
20 an asset to Detroit. But we're not working together.

21 And I'm tired of the news media looking at
22 Detroit and saying they're calling our Council stupid,
23 thinking that we're inadequate, we're dysfunctional.
24 If we work together and I heard what was said if there
25 should be investigation, accountability, followup, and

1 when you followup follow through, have a check and
2 balance system.

3 Those people at the top that are making
4 decisions they're getting paid. They're working for
5 the City. So they should be answering to us. There
6 should be some answers. You know, we're just not doing
7 all that we can or what can we do? I want to know what
8 can we do to make Detroit more creditable, you know, to
9 build Detroit more? My ears are open.

10 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Certainly, Ms. Davis,
11 it's always a pleasure to see you. And, no, we do not
12 get tired of seeing you or hearing from you and we
13 appreciate your passion and your drive for this.

14 As you know, we have met jointly at the
15 request of City Council. Brenda Jones. We hammered
16 out what we believe to be an excellent deal where all
17 sides, the Board and the towers gave and took. And we
18 presented a plan that we believe is an excellent plan.

19 However, I had a meeting last Wednesday and
20 I'll put it on the public record with Mr. Jack Martin
21 and Mr. Jack Martin has insisted that the number one
22 impound will be open. And from what I understand, I
23 haven't verified it personally myself, but from what I
24 understand they've already towed municipal parking cars
25 to that lot which I need some information.

1 So now is that municipal parking changing
2 their address or is that an impound and if it is an
3 impound then is it following the law and ordinances of
4 the City of Detroit and the State of Michigan? So
5 certainly we will do that.

6 The resolution that we passed as a Board it's
7 still in place. The things that we believe this Body
8 put in place the rules that we changed is what we're
9 still pushing. We want to make sure like you do that
10 those who do business with the City, those who pay
11 taxes to the City, who pay business fees to the City,
12 who does inspections on behalf of your business for the
13 City that you get your just due. It's just fair and
14 it's just the right thing to do.

15 So we will continue to be the voice of policy
16 from this Board to the City and we will continue to
17 meet with public officials albeit from the
18 Administration to the City Council people as well as
19 within the Department to make sure that they understand
20 and very clearly that, you know, there's an easy, what
21 we believe is a very easy and very practical way to
22 work through this.

23 We're not very far at all. Matter of fact,
24 we are right there at the door having this thing worked
25 out right. We just got to make sure that reasonable

1 minds come to the table with honest and openness and
2 transparency so that the issues move forward. But we
3 hear you. We're working with you. I think you know
4 that. And we'll continue to press.

5 Here's what I will ask you to do. What can
6 you do? I will ask you to call Jack Martin and tell
7 Jack Martin exactly, everybody call Jack Martin, tell
8 Jack Martin exactly what you said here because he needs
9 to hear it. He needs to hear this from you all.

10 I mean, we met with him privately. He
11 understands the issues at hand but he needs to hear it.
12 My thing is in this great democracy that we live in
13 sometimes get noisy, but sometimes the noise gets
14 people's attention and they can hear you better, so
15 that's my suggestion. We'll still do what we need to
16 do in this process.

17 MS. DAVIS: Yes.

18 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, ma'am.

19 MS. DAVIS: I know my two minutes are up, but
20 I heard you say you met with him privately. Nobody
21 meets with us. We have a voice, too. We have
22 concerns.

23 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Well, if I can just be
24 genuine with you. Your group is represented by a
25 couple folks here in the audience and we have met

1 jointly. I met with -- we met with your group. People
2 from Administration have met with the group that
3 represent your group of towers as well as the other
4 people representing the other group of towers, and so
5 we have met.

6 We can, if you wish, try and facilitate a
7 meeting with certain members of the City. We can
8 certainly try and do that. But I do want you to know
9 that your concerns have been raised. It's hard around
10 the common table to get forty people around a common
11 table to actually do hard work which we did and
12 accomplish.

13 The work that the group that represents you
14 did and the group that represents the other towers was
15 phenomenal work and they get it done and got it done in
16 an excellent way. But we do hear the need to have a
17 broader meeting and we'll certainly do our very best to
18 facilitate that and we'll do that.

19 MS. DAVIS: I appreciate that. And I just
20 have to say this is the first Board of Police
21 Commissioners that I know of that I've not only heard
22 but I've seen you in action and I know you're for us
23 and I thank you for your support all of you. Thank
24 you.

25 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you.

1 MS. SMITH: Good afternoon, Bernice Smith,
2 Political Activists. Chief?

3 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, ma'am.

4 MS. SMITH: Commissioners, number one, Chief,
5 I feel very honored because I was a substitute but not
6 too good of a substitute for you Sunday and I
7 appreciated very much at the Police Retirement Ball and
8 Dance. It was beautiful. And some of your staff was
9 beautiful, too.

10 I don't see where she's here today. She was
11 dressed gorgeous. You know, you guys look good when
12 you're out of uniform and it was really wonderful to
13 see most of the staff and the retirees there and they
14 were looking very very expensively dressed believe me
15 and had a good time believe me.

16 The two brothers, I had no idea that he was a
17 twin, the young man that got shot that was at our
18 facility Swanson I met him and his mother and I was
19 just very delighted believe me. But what I really
20 would like to know what are you going to do once the
21 Mayor talked to you in regards to he's going to give
22 you the money for the Police Department Police Chief
23 but yet and still he reneged on it.

24 I read it in the paper which I'm not too
25 upset about it because I know it's just standard

1 procedure seemingly just like he didn't show up Monday
2 at City Council.

3 Now my thing is this, do not give up. All
4 right. You're fighters and I believe you're going to
5 fight for the Police Department just like I feel as
6 though we all need to fight for them. And above all we
7 hope that you'll never get to the stage where you get
8 to need some toilet paper or any soap. I hope that.

9 Also this is really important to me.
10 Watching the parade this past week, I didn't hear it
11 but my friends called me and my children told me that
12 night at dinner, when the Mayor walked up to the stage
13 to greet Santa Clause the statement was made to Santa
14 Clause and I'm going to see if it's true that he said
15 it, welcome to Detroit, I didn't think that you were
16 going to come because of the problems that we have here
17 in the City.

18 Now, you know and I know that parade is for
19 the children and for the people that come in and out of
20 town. They do not wish to be involved in any of our
21 politics here in City and above all we need not
22 dishearten ourselves by telling outsiders about our
23 problems here in the City. I'm sure that they read
24 enough of it in paper.

25 So again, I will -- I didn't get a chance to

1 see Kirk the day at the radio station, but I don't want
2 to talk to him about him it. I want to go directly to
3 the Mayor and ask him why, if it's true, why did you
4 say that? Because it was totally unnecessary. And I
5 feel as though I can do it which you may not because of
6 the fact of your position. And Chief --

7 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, ma'am.

8 MS. SMITH: You stay right there in that
9 seat. We want you.

10 CHIEF LOGAN: Yes, ma'am.

11 MS. SMITH: Welcome to Detroit, young man.

12 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Ms. Smith.

13 MR. ERRIGO: Good afternoon, Board, Chief.

14 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Good afternoon, sir.

15 MR. ERRIGO: Gregory Errigo, E-R-R-I-G-O,
16 owner of Michigan Auto Recovery, police impound yard
17 for the City of Detroit. The other day I was going to
18 number one pound up on the hill up there and from
19 having 28 to 32, to 42 cars, I counted somewhat in the
20 areas of 286 cars that are there.

21 You just opened up our eyes and said that
22 those are impound from municipal parking. Well, the
23 question I have is, number one, did the Board or
24 anybody know that Detroit Police Department allowed
25 municipal parking to open up their yard put their thing

1 there, that's number one. Okay. And number two,
2 here's how simple it is. Detroit Police Department has
3 done to us in the past and hopefully nothing they're
4 going to do but this is just the past practices of the
5 old regime, so to say.

6 We get a teletype saying that all cars
7 immediately from this day forward going to be going to
8 number one pound for the notice or until no notice, but
9 they go immediately every car towed in the City of
10 Detroit.

11 My question to the Board is, due to the fact
12 that, and I'm sure you didn't know that the municipal
13 parking was there, are going to be there overnight, and
14 the Detroit Police impound towers towed them there two
15 days from what I understand. What I'm asking the Board
16 to do, the Detroit Board of Police Commissioners Board
17 is there anything we can pass on record, resolution or
18 something of the sort like we did when we had the
19 meeting over there at Six Mile and Grand River where
20 you didn't like whatever they had to say we send a
21 teletype or getting a note saying that disregard what
22 happened blah blah blah that we're still status quo,
23 whatever.

24 Because it seems as though everybody's doing
25 their own thing. They're doing it at our expense. If

1 I'm towing 30, 40, 50 cars a day, and yet I know you
2 heard this before from me but I'm sick of it. I'm
3 towing one or none, okay, as well as everybody else
4 here. And Christine told you all the expenses we got
5 coming up. Nobody's helping us with nothing.

6 The cars are sitting there. The Deputy Chief
7 told the Halloween thing we ask for a blitz and we got
8 no blitz planned. We used to clean the streets for
9 Halloween blitz for the blight and what have you.

10 I haven't had a aban list in three months.
11 You can check it. Three months. Okay. There's
12 something got -- there's something wrong big time here.
13 Okay. Something wrong here.

14 I'm asking the Board if you could pass a
15 resolution on the record or something to protect the
16 towers against the City of Detroit to come down saying
17 with a teletype immediately right now and then a phone
18 call all cars immediate go downtown until further
19 notice or until no notice to protect us while we're
20 going through this negotiation or we're going through
21 whatever to protect us so we -- because once the City
22 goes through with something it's really hard to get
23 them to back off.

24 They're already there. They already sent the
25 teletype out. They're ain't nothing to stop them.

1 Okay. We got to stop it before it comes. A resolution
2 I was thinking of passed through the Board at however
3 word, technologies, however you got to do it to protect
4 towers where this isn't going to happen.

5 Because overnight they towed these cars. You
6 didn't know about it. Overnight they're going to make
7 a teletype saying take the cars to them. And no
8 disrespect, Chief, but this has been past practices.

9 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Greg, first of
10 all, for your comments. We certainly appreciate it.
11 Let me ask some clarifying questions. Are you saying
12 that a notice was sent to you saying that immediately
13 you had to tow your cars to a yard?

14 MR. ERRIGO: No, no, no, no. I'm asking if
15 you can get a resolution.

16 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: No --

17 MR. ERRIGO: But things have happened
18 overnight with a teletype saying that things change
19 immediately.

20 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: I want to address that
21 immediately.

22 MR. ERRIGO: No, no, I did get nothing.

23 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Let me answer your
24 questions, let me answer your questions, I'll go down
25 the list. Was the Board aware of the change? No. No

1 one called us, no one asked us, no one told us.

2 Again, so we don't know if this is a change
3 of address for municipal parking, if municipal parking
4 has moved from where it use to be located to this new
5 location, that's just their new address. We don't know
6 if this is again supposed to be an impound lot as
7 defined within the City Charter and if that is the case
8 certainly we got to weigh in on that as well.

9 So we'll do our due diligence and we'll get
10 back to you on that. And I think naturally, and please
11 take what I'm about to say in the spirit in which I'm
12 about to say it, it's this Board's job as a
13 policymaking Board to make sure that our policies are
14 carried out and to make sure our policies are enacted
15 in a way that benefits the citizens and those who are
16 doing business with the City.

17 And I understand your language you said
18 protect the towers. We're not there necessarily to
19 protect the towers, but what we're there to do is to
20 make sure that the policies that we pass which we
21 believe make a better towing environment for the entire
22 City and make it run more effectively for the citizens
23 who have their cars towed should be implemented
24 according to the rules that this Board establishes.

25 And so we will not tolerate any circumventing

1 of those rules. We will not tolerate any backdoor
2 deals as relates to trying to get around those rules.
3 So we will definitely do our due diligence looking into
4 what has transpired as relates to the laws and we will
5 issue something, maybe it will be in the form of a
6 resolution, but we'll discuss it in open meeting and
7 you'll see it for yourself.

8 MR. ERRIGO: In short we all know we're a
9 tower for the City of Detroit Police Department, we
10 work for the Detroit Police Department and for the
11 citizens of the Detroit City, okay. We just want to be
12 here at the end of the day to do that.

13 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Absolutely.

14 MR. ERRIGO: That's what I mean. I didn't
15 mean for you to protect us towers --

16 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Just for record being
17 kept.

18 MR. ERRIGO: And on the record, Andre
19 Duperry, when we submitted all these deals that we all
20 agreed in meetings whatever in front of the Board, Tow
21 Rate Commissioner, everything, he says we don't want
22 none of it, we're going forward to into our yards,
23 that's his own words. Andre Duperry, okay. We're
24 going to open up our own yards as planned. We're going
25 full steam ahead.

1 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Two minutes are up.
2 Thank you, thank you, sir. Chief, did you want to say
3 something?

4 CHIEF LOGAN: No, sir.

5 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Next, please?

6 MS. SEMMA: Good evening, Julie, from Data as
7 well as cochair. I want to welcome Chief from LA,
8 welcome to Detroit, and glad to have you here. I want
9 to commend all the men in blue, the Chief, everyone
10 here that's been working really hard in the City.

11 I know things are really tough and I know
12 there's been a lot of negatives that's been going on
13 and just keep the heads up high. As we always say
14 there's power in prayer and the City needs a lot of it,
15 to all of you as well as the men in blue as well as all
16 the towers and everybody else that's doing business in
17 the City of Detroit.

18 I'd just like to piggyback on what Greg had
19 mentioned earlier. Just for clarification we did
20 currently in the past did get memorandum types that
21 were issued to us literally overnight. And one of the
22 memorandum types teletype-wise that we have to move at
23 the time we're towing accident -- excuse me, forfeiture
24 and narcotic vehicles to our facilities, and we
25 actually did get a teletype saying that the vehicles

1 did have to move to number one or excuse me 2121 Fort
2 Street which is now where the vehicles are being stored
3 to.

4 And also in the past we were given
5 documentation that if we didn't sign certain documents
6 then we would be basically removed from doing any City
7 towing. So I think with that being said we definitely
8 need to implement something on record to protect
9 ourselves so that we can continue moving forward doing
10 our business with the City because we do enjoy what we
11 do and we've been proudly doing so and want to continue
12 doing so. Thank you for your all help.

13 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, Julie, just
14 for one second. And certainly we do understand that
15 those practices were passed years before, of course,
16 this Board was in place before our rules were in place.

17 MS. SEMMA: Yeah.

18 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: I'll say to you and I'll
19 say to the rest of the towers who are in the audience
20 and those who are not that if anything like that
21 happens we need to know immediately. If you are told
22 to do differently than the rules that we've signed up
23 for the permits and the contracts that you are already
24 under those obligations, if someone tells you to tow
25 those cars to somewhere different than what our rules

1 have already set up then we need to know that
2 immediately because that is not coming from this Board.

3 That is making new policy, and we will
4 definitely look into issues of that. And so from our
5 perspective because we haven't changed anything that I
6 know of it's business as usual until we straighten out,
7 you know, the fees.

8 And again for record as you know we offered
9 and the towing community has offered I should say for
10 the City to actualized a four-million dollar revenue
11 stream on towing when all they got in past years was
12 \$400,000.00.

13 MS. SEMMA: Correct.

14 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Without spending one dime
15 on the City's behalf. And so I think you all have done
16 just a yeoman's job in the things that you've been
17 willing to give up in order that the greater good of
18 the City moves forward. And so we are very clear and
19 it is not our job to think or to believe that any time
20 overnight memos can be sent out, if you get them send
21 them to our staff. They'll let us know. We'll react
22 to them immediately.

23 MS. SEMMA: Thank you. And also just want to
24 state currently there is a secondary company. I
25 believe it's Guardian Security who is monitoring

1 security at number one pound.

2 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: So it's not a number one
3 pound, then.

4 MS. SEMMA: It's the number one pound located
5 at Mount Elliot and Caniff where the municipal parking
6 and the accident vehicles are -- excuse me, fatal cars
7 that are being moved to. And I was told that they're
8 supposed to be Police Officers there at all times and
9 they're currently isn't. There's securities companies.

10 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Well, again, I'm going by
11 City Ordinance.

12 MS. SEMMA: Correct.

13 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: That's what we have to go
14 by, that's what guides our activities. According to
15 City Ordinance if it is an impound yard can they have
16 guards there? It has to be Police Officers.

17 MS. SEMMA: That's correct.

18 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: So if they have guards
19 there then they must have changed the designation.
20 This is all new to us.

21 MS. SEMMA: Correct.

22 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: They must have changed
23 the designation from impound yard to again they changed
24 the address from the municipal parking yard over there.
25 I mean, we'll drill down and see.

1 MS. SEMMA: Sure.

2 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: But, I mean, I know from
3 a technical standpoint it cannot still be an impound
4 yard if they have guards there because then that would
5 be breaking City Ordinance and we know that no one here
6 wants to break City Ordinance.

7 MS. SEMMA: I just know personally I went
8 there and I saw a gentleman wearing a white t-shirt
9 with a Guardian shirt and it was a security company at
10 Mount Elliot and Caniff which is also know as number
11 one pound.

12 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Okay. Thank you.

13 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Mr. Chair, in light of
14 the recent conversation that we had I would like to
15 make the motion under the Chair's signature on behalf
16 of the Board we submit to municipal parking a detailed
17 communication outlining our concerns and ask for
18 questions to be answered so that we may know how we
19 should proceed and if we have to work with our counsel
20 to get some remedies to any violations that might have
21 been put in place under the preexisting rules set forth
22 by this Body.

23 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: It's been properly
24 moved and supported that we send communication to
25 municipal parking as relates to our concerns and as

1 relates to recent moves that were made. Any other
2 discussion? Hearing or seeing none, all those in
3 favor?

4 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

5 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: All those opposed?
6 Motion carries. That will be done. Thank you, sir.

7 Yes, ma'am, thank you.

8 MS. ROMANO: Good afternoon, everyone, Anna
9 Romano. I would just first of all like to welcome the
10 Chief here. I hope you enjoy your stay and you have a
11 memorable stay with us. And just a friendly reminder
12 of the food drive for the homeless Veterans. It is
13 until December 19th.

14 So we're asking everyone to please
15 participate in collecting nonperishable canned goods
16 and dropping them off at the Northeastern District. So
17 there are fliers out there that are available for
18 everyone. Thank you.

19 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, thank you for
20 the job that you do, too, I know we appreciate it.

21 Are there others? Going once, going twice?
22 All right. We'll close that portion of our meeting. I
23 do want to thank the Chief of Police and the Department
24 just for an outstanding job during the parade.

25 (Applause.)

1 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: It was a wonderful day.
2 The men and women we're out. The funniest thing, and I
3 have to say this and then we'll leave, the funniest
4 thing to me was when right at the start of the parade,
5 Thanksgiving Day Parade, they were clearing, you know,
6 gathering to get ready to set up and apparently I guess
7 the crowds were so massive, there were massive crowds
8 on Thursday, and so they had crowded into the streets
9 and it almost -- and shortly men and women on
10 motorcycles went down to make sure the pathway was
11 clear and it was almost like Moses parting the sea to
12 see the people go back their respective areas.

13 It was just an excellent day. The executive
14 staff just their interaction with the crews was
15 received extremely well. Deputy Chief Tolbert got shot
16 with some crazy string. It was great. It was really a
17 great time. And it was good to see us in that type of
18 relaxed environment just interacting with the public,
19 and it was great. Excellent job, sir.

20 CHIEF LOGAN: Through the chair, just one
21 last thing from me. Commissioner White talked about
22 the issue with young people of color being incarcerated
23 and I think that we're certainly on the same page, but
24 I think there's something even more insidious than that
25 and that's the death of our young black men especially

1 in this City, and that's something that we're going to
2 face up to. We're going to have to talk about and
3 we're going to have to deal with it.

4 So I just wanted to remind the community that
5 come Wednesday, December the 5th at 6:00 to 8:00, we're
6 asking that the community join us, the Detroit Police
7 Department Victim Assistance Program, join us at the
8 Cathedral Church of Saint Paul which is located at 4800
9 Woodward.

10 What's going to happen, there's going to be a
11 candlelight ceremony and this program is put on for the
12 most part by survivors who've had loved ones killed in
13 the City of Detroit. So I would ask that if your
14 schedule permits that you turn out and help support
15 these people. There's nothing joyous about it. This
16 should be a time of joy in the community, but this is
17 gut wrenching, heart wrenching.

18 We're going to have to face this. And we're
19 going to have a potluck dinner immediately following
20 the program, so if you'd like to you can bring a dish
21 to share. Okay.

22 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: Thank you, sir,
23 absolutely. We'll govern ourselves according.

24 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Chief, that was 6:00?

25 CHIEF LOGAN: 6:00 to 8:00.

1 SPEAKER: Could you go over the address,
2 please?

3 CHIEF LOGAN: 4800 Woodward.

4 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: And there are fliers out
5 here, too. Thank you. Hearing and seeing no more
6 business before this Board I will entertain a motion to
7 adjourn?

8 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Second.

9 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So moved.

10 CHAIRMAN WARFIELD: It's been properly moved
11 and second. Amen. See you next week.

12 (The hearing concluded at 4:35 p.m.)
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF WAYNE)

I, Elizabeth Koller, hereby certify that I reported stenographically the foregoing proceedings at the time and place hereinbefore set forth; that thereafter the same was reduced to computer transcription under my supervision; and that this is a full, true, complete and correct transcription of said proceedings.



Elizabeth Koller

Elizabeth Koller, CSR 7042,
Notary Public,
Wayne County, Michigan

My Commission expires: June 1, 2018

A
Aaron 23:25
aban 56:10
abide 43:16
able 5:23 13:5,7
 18:19 20:8
 37:3 38:3
abreast 26:8
abrogation 44:23
absolutely 11:21
 12:12 17:13
 20:15 27:19
 29:3 42:21
 59:13 67:23
AC 46:17
accept 14:11
 16:9 22:10,14
access 23:6
 44:15
accessed 45:17
accident 60:23
 63:6
accomplish 51:12
accountability
 47:25
accurate 37:6
accused 44:24
 45:11
action 14:21
 16:10 51:22
activate 31:6,7
 32:24 36:1,1
 36:23 37:8,9
activated 35:22
 36:22,24
activating 31:3
Activists 52:2
activities 26:15
 44:4 63:14
activity 23:4,7
 25:4 28:10
 39:22 44:15
 45:13,13,15,16
 45:17
actualized 62:10
adamant 44:22
added 28:7
additional 31:23
address 9:14,25
 15:8 43:11,13
 49:2 57:20

58:3,5 63:24
 68:1
addressed 6:8,25
 9:9 41:3
adequately 46:7
adjourn 68:7
adjudicated
 45:10
Administration
 21:3 23:25
 49:18 51:2
Administrations
 24:2
administrative
 26:24 30:14
adopt 16:9,9
 22:19
advocate 10:23
African-American
 24:11
African-Ameri...
 28:13
afternoon 3:4,11
 4:11 23:24
 52:1 54:13,14
 65:8
agencies 21:22
 26:16
agency 26:22
agenda 5:5 6:24
 7:17
agreed 23:16
 59:20
agreements 20:21
 20:24 21:2,6
 22:14
ahead 59:25
aims 21:25
ain't 56:25
Alan 3:23
alarming 41:13
albeit 49:17
Alexander 43:23
align 22:6
alleged 45:13
allegedly 44:7
alleging 13:4
allocating 28:22
allow 9:6 23:23
allowed 54:24
alluded 28:9
all-inclusive

11:16
already's 31:6
Amen 5:1,2 68:11
amendments 14:17
amount 12:4 24:5
 24:13 27:3,4
 44:9
Andre 59:18,23
and/or 13:12
 23:1 34:18
 35:17 40:7
Angles 43:7
Anna 65:8
answer 18:19
 57:23,24
answered 64:18
answering 48:5
answers 47:11
 48:6
Anthony 2:17
 3:12,13,15,16
 4:1 11:7
anybody 36:6
 54:24
anyway 12:16
apparently 66:6
appeal 44:13,19
APPEARANCES 2:1
Appearing 2:8
Applause 65:25
appreciate 12:19
 12:22 13:22
 18:1 20:2,17
 27:21 42:24
 43:2 48:13
 51:19 57:10
 65:20
appreciated
 18:23 52:7
apprised 26:6
approach 6:8
 17:8
approval 22:10
 22:15
approve 7:17,24
 8:8 17:1 19:12
 19:13 27:24
approximately
 29:23 38:7
Arabic 24:11
area 12:23
areas 9:20,22

27:12 54:20
 66:12
arrests 34:8
arrive 12:17
articulate 28:12
ascertain 37:4
asked 23:15 58:1
asking 4:16 6:16
 16:25 18:11,12
 18:13 19:12
 27:15 47:9
 55:15 56:14
 57:14 65:14
 67:6
asset 22:5 47:20
assigned 7:5
 23:25 24:1
 26:20 30:2
assist 13:16
 15:9,18
Assistance 67:7
Assistant 17:1
 19:5
assisting 12:16
attack 21:12,22
attempted 44:14
 44:15 45:2
attempting 20:7
attention 6:4
 11:13 50:14
attorney 2:3
 3:20 21:15,25
 44:14
audience 5:2 7:7
 50:25 61:19
audio 9:18 13:12
 30:17 31:4,6
 35:21 37:2
 40:7
August 6:7
austere 12:7
Auto 54:16
automatic 31:5
automatically
 37:9
availability
 21:16
available 23:6
 23:21 25:11
 39:11,24 42:25
 45:21,22 65:17
aware 14:12

29:24 30:23, 24
40:2 57:25
awesome 11:6
awhile 37:18
Aye 7:22 8:5, 13
16:16 28:3
65:4

B

back 3:22 5:4
11:10 16:24
18:8 19:20
24:22 25:11
27:8 29:6, 17
33:13 37:18
56:23 58:10
66:12
backdoor 59:1
background 17:17
19:8 29:12
backseat 32:25
balance 48:2
Ball 52:7
Banks 2:2 3:20
11:6
basically 32:17
36:2 41:1 61:6
basis 33:5 34:22
35:5 36:13
38:15, 16, 18, 21
38:23 39:4
battery 37:11
38:2
Beaubien 1:16
2:5
beautiful 52:8, 9
began 9:16
begging 27:7
beginning 9:24
39:13, 19
behalf 2:8 41:24
49:12 62:15
64:15
behaviors 11:14
believe 17:10, 14
19:10 20:9
24:18 32:1
41:20 46:5
48:16, 18 49:7
49:21 52:14, 15
52:19 53:4
58:21 62:19, 25

beneficial 23:8
benefit 44:25
benefits 58:15
Bernice 52:1
best 51:17
better 6:17
50:14 58:21
betting 34:12
beyond 24:4
big 56:12
bit 11:1 29:17
black 23:3, 10
66:25
blah 55:22, 22, 22
blatantly 27:11
bless 4:12, 17, 23
4:25
blessing 4:24
blight 56:9
blitz 56:7, 8, 9
blue 41:21 60:9
60:15
board 1:2 2:3, 4
2:8 3:5, 7, 11
3:16, 21 4:12
5:13 6:9 7:3
11:4 14:17
16:25 17:1, 4, 5
17:6, 8 19:21
43:3, 11 48:17
49:6, 16 51:20
54:13, 23 55:11
55:15, 16, 16
56:14 57:2, 25
58:13, 24 59:20
61:16 62:2
64:16 68:6
Boards 5:17
Board's 14:10
22:13 58:12
body 33:24 49:7
64:22
book 13:8
bottom 29:1
Bradley 43:6
break 64:6
breaking 64:5
Brenda 48:15
bring 16:24
19:19, 20 67:20
bringing 15:19
broader 51:17

brothers 52:16
brought 37:20
Brown 3:21
Brutality 43:20
budget 18:7, 9, 22
budgetary 18:4
build 48:9
Bureau 21:1
22:12 36:9
business 9:3
12:24 13:18, 20
13:20 17:12
20:18 29:5
43:3 46:18, 24
46:25 47:3, 4
49:10, 11, 12
58:16 60:16
61:10 62:6
68:6

C

call 37:5 50:6, 7
56:18
called 53:11
58:1
calling 47:22
camera 17:12
39:18, 20
cameras 13:1, 9
40:7 41:22
candidate 6:1
candidates 19:4
19:20
candlelight
67:11
Caniff 63:5
64:10
canned 65:15
capture 13:6
37:2
captured 35:17
capturing 36:17
car 33:1 34:3
36:12 39:10
55:9
care 6:8
carried 58:14
carries 7:24 8:7
16:18 28:5
65:6
carrying 5:14
cars 12:25 13:10

29:23 30:3
31:14 33:25
34:17 35:2, 6
36:13 38:5, 16
38:22, 24 39:5
39:7 42:5, 7
48:24 54:19, 20
55:6 56:1, 6, 18
57:5, 7, 13
58:23 61:25
63:6
case 13:2 18:22
45:24 58:7
cases 8:19, 19, 20
8:22 11:3
13:11 41:11
44:18
Cathedral 67:8
CCR 41:25
CCRs 42:2
Celia 2:2 3:20
11:6
centerpiece
21:14
ceremony 67:11
certain 8:23
11:14 27:12
34:23 51:7
61:5
certainly 10:9
11:6, 14 14:15
14:18 28:9
43:1 48:10
49:5 51:8, 17
57:10 58:8
61:14 66:23
CERTIFICATE 69:1
certify 69:8
chair 3:15 7:15
8:17 10:4
11:22 12:14
16:22 18:3, 16
22:25 23:14
26:10 28:6
29:9 64:13
66:20
Chairman 2:12
3:4, 7 4:1 5:3
7:16, 20, 23 8:3
8:6, 11, 14 10:6
10:9, 22 12:12
12:23 13:19, 24

14:4,19 16:7
 16:14,17,20
 17:9,13,25
 18:25 19:3,15
 19:22,25 20:9
 20:12,15 22:17
 22:22 26:11,13
 27:2,19,23
 28:4 29:3
 31:15 34:15,17
 35:4,9,13
 36:18 37:11
 38:4,7,21
 39:12 40:5
 41:4,8,18
 42:21 43:1
 46:15 48:10
 50:18,23 51:25
 54:12,14 57:9
 57:16,20,23
 59:13,16 60:1
 60:5 61:13,18
 62:14 63:2,10
 63:13,18,22
 64:2,12 65:5
 65:19 66:1
 67:22 68:4,10
Chairman's 5:8
Chairperson 2:14
 3:9 43:13
Chair's 64:15
chance 53:25
change 47:4
 57:18,25 58:2
changed 49:8
 62:5 63:19,22
 63:23
changes 18:5
changing 46:2
 49:1
Chaplain 4:8
CHAPLIN 4:11
charge 37:22
charger 31:22
 37:22
Charter 6:14
 58:7
check 39:13 48:1
 56:11
Chester 2:18
 3:10 22:16
Chicago 25:22,24

26:2,2
Chief 2:18 3:9
 3:10,17 4:11
 4:22 5:10 6:1
 8:15,16,18
 10:6,7 11:11
 11:22,23 12:24
 13:16,17,21,24
 14:20,22 16:11
 16:20,22,23
 17:2,10,24
 18:1,2,6,7,16
 18:17,24 19:1
 19:3,5,5,10,19
 19:24 20:1,3,6
 20:16 22:11,16
 22:24,25 23:14
 23:15 24:3
 26:5 27:21
 28:8 29:6,9,10
 29:17 35:12
 42:25 43:5,7
 44:1 52:2,3,4
 52:22 54:6,7
 54:10,13 56:6
 57:8 60:2,4,7
 60:9 65:10,23
 66:15,20 67:24
 67:25 68:3
Chiefs 17:1
 18:14
children 53:11
 53:19
Christine 46:16
 56:4
Church 67:8
circumstances
 34:1
circumventing
 58:25
cities 24:7,14
 24:17
citizen 12:4,7
 13:4 38:20
citizens 4:20
 6:14 9:8 34:22
 42:10 58:15,22
 59:11
city 4:19,21
 5:22,22 6:2,12
 6:14,15,22
 22:15 23:8

24:20 25:19,21
 25:24,24 26:19
 27:16,25 47:13
 48:5,15 49:4
 49:10,11,11,13
 49:16,18 51:7
 53:2,17,21,23
 54:17 55:9
 56:16,21 58:7
 58:16,22 59:9
 59:11 60:10,14
 60:17 61:6,10
 62:10,18 63:11
 63:15 64:5,6
 67:1,13
City's 62:15
Civil 29:15
clarification
 60:19
clarifying 57:11
clarity 25:3
 28:7
Clause 53:13,14
clean 56:8
clear 6:6 32:19
 62:18 66:11
clearing 66:5
clearly 49:20
click 37:10
close 65:22
closed 9:2
closely 8:22
closure 46:20
Coalition 43:19
cochair 60:7
Coleman 3:19
colleagues 41:16
collecting 65:15
color 23:19,20
 28:14 66:22
combat 25:14,14
combines 21:20
come 5:4,17 8:15
 13:11 25:15
 27:12 29:10
 43:12,18 46:20
 50:1 53:16,19
 56:16 67:5
comes 31:20
 40:14 47:15
 57:1
comfortable

15:16
coming 9:14 26:1
 32:9 42:9 56:5
 62:2
Command 30:21,25
 33:15
Commander 17:11
 29:10,11,14,14
 31:16,17,20
 32:11,14 33:15
 33:20 34:20
 35:8,18 37:6
 37:13 38:6,10
 39:1,17 40:11
 41:7 42:11
Commanders 18:13
 18:14
Commands 30:15
 31:2 34:24
Commencing 1:19
commend 10:10
 12:15 60:9
commended 12:11
comments 7:8
 14:6,16,19
 28:8 43:13
 57:10
Commission 4:23
 69:21
Commissioner 3:9
 7:13,14,15,18
 7:19 8:1,2,9
 8:10 10:8
 14:22 15:12,20
 15:25 16:6,7
 16:12,13 18:2
 18:15 19:2
 20:2,3,9,11,14
 20:19,23 22:19
 22:21,23,24
 25:3,7 26:9,12
 28:6 31:17
 32:11 33:14
 34:14,16 37:14
 41:17 43:21
 59:21 64:13,23
 66:21 67:24
 68:8,9
Commissioners
 1:2 2:4,9,11
 3:6,8 7:22 8:5
 8:13 16:16

28:3 43:12
 51:21 52:4
 55:16 65:4
Commissioner's
 4:4
commitment 5:20
common 51:10,10
communicate 47:8
communication
 17:14 43:11
 47:9 64:17,24
community 6:11
 6:19 28:21
 62:9 67:4,6,16
companies 6:20
 63:9
company 62:24
 64:9
complaint 9:17
complaints 9:8
 11:15 12:4,8
complete 10:2
 69:13
completed 9:5,8
 12:19
completes 3:25
complex 23:13
compliance 11:25
comprehensive
 21:12
comprises 27:1
computer 10:14
 69:11
concept 23:1
concern 44:2
concerns 25:12
 45:20 47:10
 50:22 51:9
 64:17,25
concluded 68:12
condone 28:10
conduct 5:11,23
 9:10,24
conducted 6:19
conducting 22:8
confidential
 26:4
confiscated 26:6
 26:14,15
confusion 28:8
conjunction
 25:23

consent 11:19,24
consider 17:5,6
considerations
 45:9
consistently
 15:7
contact 42:9
contacts 24:23
context 44:20
 45:12
continue 46:20
 49:15,16 50:4
 61:9,11
contracts 24:18
 61:23
contradict 46:6
control 32:18
conversation
 64:14
conversations
 22:25
conveyed 28:12
 46:7
convicted 44:8
 44:10
cooperation 9:4
coordinated
 21:22
cops 42:7
copy 17:21 20:10
 20:12 42:19
correct 62:13
 63:12,17,21
 69:13
correspond 26:4
Council 6:12
 22:15 28:1
 47:22 48:15
 49:18 53:2
counsel 34:12
 64:19
counted 54:19
country 24:6
 29:2
country's 28:20
County 26:23
 69:6,20
couple 9:12 15:6
 15:7 36:18
 50:25
course 9:13
 17:21 25:5

45:4 61:15
Court 3:24
courts 46:14
covered 13:17
crazy 66:16
creditable 48:8
crews 66:14
crime 20:21,25
 21:4,10
crimes 28:24
 44:10
criminal 21:1,18
 22:11
Crow 43:24
crowded 66:8
crowds 66:7,7
CSR 69:18
CSR-7042 1:21
culture 46:3
current 8:19
 16:4
currently 26:19
 60:20 62:24
 63:9
curtail 24:8

D

daily 36:13
 38:16,23 39:4
Dance 52:8
data 12:2 29:16
 29:19,22,24
 30:3,22 31:13
 31:14 34:18
 35:11 36:7
 38:5,24 39:7
 42:15 45:21
 46:1 60:6
dates 39:5
Davis 3:17 8:17
 8:18 10:21
 11:21 12:14
 13:14,23 14:3
 14:8 15:2,15
 15:23 16:3,19
 46:16,17 48:10
 50:17,19 51:19
day 45:21 46:13
 54:1,17 55:7
 56:1 59:12
 66:1,5,13
days 8:20,24
 10:19,20 29:13
 44:21 45:5
 55:15
DEA 24:1 26:20
 26:23,23
deactivated
 35:16 40:8
deal 48:16 67:3
dealing 34:22
deals 59:2,19
death 66:25
December 43:4
 65:13 67:5
decision 14:7
 17:22
decisions 10:5
 48:4
decline 12:10
decree 11:19
deficiencies
 15:6
defined 58:7
definitely 13:14
 59:3 61:7 62:4
degree 23:6
delay 18:20
delighted 52:19
demands 6:13,22
democracy 50:12
democratic 5:19
department 9:4
 11:17,20 12:15
 12:20 15:4
 16:5 19:18
 21:1,3 26:25
 27:25 32:13
 43:8 49:19
 52:22 53:5
 54:24 55:2
 59:9,10 65:23
 67:7
Departments 13:4
 27:6 32:9
deployed 35:2
 37:19 42:14
Deputy 17:1 18:7
 18:14,16 19:5
 21:25 22:11
 56:6 66:15
describe 30:6
designation
 63:19,23

desire 28:20
desk 9:2 13:11
desperately 13:9
detail 37:16
detailed 64:16
details 25:5
Detroit 1:2, 18
 2:4, 6 3:1 6:2
 6:14, 15 16:4
 20:25 22:15
 24:7 25:5, 19
 25:23, 25 26:2
 26:19 27:16
 43:19 47:13, 17
 47:20, 22 48:8
 48:9 49:4
 53:15 54:11, 17
 54:24 55:2, 10
 55:14, 16 56:16
 59:9, 10, 11
 60:8, 17 67:6
 67:13
Detroit-based
 46:25
develop 40:6
dictates 6:13
different 32:21
 39:6 61:25
differently 34:9
 61:22
difficult 6:3
diligence 11:5
 58:9 59:3
diligent 5:14
 7:4
diligently 5:21
dime 62:14
diminished 11:15
dinner 53:12
 67:19
direction 11:18
 21:24
directly 54:2
Director 3:19
 22:12
disabled 36:5
 40:23
disabling 36:5
disciplinary
 14:1, 2, 21
 16:10 17:18
 19:16

discuss 17:11, 21
 59:6
discussed 44:3
discussion 7:21
 16:8 28:1, 1
 65:2
dish 67:20
dishearten 53:22
dismantling
 21:17
disregard 55:21
disrespect 57:8
disrupting 21:16
disseminated
 31:24 32:3, 6
distance 45:18
distributed
 31:18
district 32:1
 42:14 65:16
districts 30:2
divert 6:3
divided 26:25
 27:2
Divisional 24:25
divvied 26:16, 22
document 14:23
 14:25 15:1
 34:5 39:22
documentation
 31:1 42:3 61:5
documents 61:5
doing 10:10 12:9
 29:25 30:12, 20
 47:5, 12 48:6
 55:24, 25 58:16
 60:16 61:6, 9
 61:11, 12
dollar 62:10
dollars 18:5
 24:18 25:9, 13
 25:16
Donnell 2:13
 7:14
door 49:24
downtime 37:21
downtown 56:18
DPD 21:6 30:9
draft 14:16
Drake 3:17 8:17
 8:18 10:21
 11:21 12:14
 13:14, 23 14:3
 14:8 15:2, 15
 15:23 16:3, 19
draw 4:16
dressed 52:11, 14
drill 41:9 63:25
drive 48:13
 65:12
drives 10:15
dropping 65:16
drug 20:22, 25
 21:3, 4, 10, 12
 21:15, 17, 22, 25
 22:2, 4, 6, 7
 23:4 24:1
 25:14 28:15, 24
 43:22 44:3
 45:13, 13
drugs 21:16 22:1
 23:1, 5 25:20
 26:13
due 45:10 49:13
 55:11 58:9
 59:3
Duperry 59:19, 23
duty 39:19
dysfunctional
 47:23

E

effort 5:22
 11:16 23:22
 25:10
efforts 11:18
 12:16, 20 23:9
 24:3, 8, 12, 16
 24:21 27:16
 28:15
either 34:18
 35:1, 10 36:2, 5
 44:6 45:15
eliminating 22:3
Elizabeth 1:21
 3:23 69:8, 18
Elliot 63:5
 64:10
embraced 32:12
 32:15
emerging 22:7
emphasizing 22:4
enacted 58:14
encountered 44:5
ended 44:11
enforcement
 20:22, 25 21:3
 21:4, 10 22:6
 24:1 25:4
 28:15 44:3
engaged 36:24
enjoy 61:10
 65:10
ensure 9:7
enter 4:5 20:21
 20:24 21:2
 22:14
enterprises
 21:19
entertain 7:17
 7:24 8:7 16:9
 68:6
entire 11:7
 58:21
entities 34:23
environment
 58:21 66:18
equipment 34:24
 35:20 39:14
 40:12 41:5
equipment's
 40:19
equipped 13:1
 29:8 31:14, 21

31:22 34:18
 35:7,10 38:17
 38:24 39:7
 42:8,8,15
equitable 26:18
Errigo 54:13,15
 54:15 57:14,17
 57:22 59:8,14
 59:18
especially 45:22
 66:25
established
 21:11
establishes
 58:24
evaluate 33:18
evening 60:6
event 32:20
 33:17
events 30:17
eventually 6:25
 24:7
everybody 6:12
 50:7 56:3
 60:16
everybody's
 55:24
evidence 44:18
 44:19
evidentiary 45:8
 46:14
exact 12:6 37:14
exactly 50:7,8
exam 20:5
example 36:20
excellent 13:6
 28:17,18 48:16
 48:18 51:16
 66:13,19
excuse 60:23
 61:1 63:6
executive 66:13
exigent 34:1
exist 33:6
existed 45:5
existing 22:7
exists 15:11
exonerate 13:7
 41:23
exonerated 36:21
 42:18 45:1
expanded 22:8

expect 4:3
expense 55:25
expenses 47:6,7
 56:4
expensively
 52:14
experience 27:10
expertise 21:21
expires 69:21
extremely 66:15
eyes 54:21
E-R-R-I-G-O
 54:15

F

face 67:2,18
facilitate 51:6
 51:18
facilitated
 14:24,25
facilitates 16:1
facilities 60:24
facility 52:18
facing 46:23
fact 9:21 11:9
 18:9 23:5 44:4
 44:10,13 46:3
 49:23 54:6
 55:11
fair 47:12 49:13
fairly 45:10,14
fall 16:2 24:14
falls 18:9
far 5:24 18:8
 24:3 25:19
 36:4 49:23
fashion 9:9
 12:18
fatal 63:6
fate 32:19
favor 7:21 8:4
 8:12 16:15
 28:2 65:3
federal 21:21,25
 22:6
feel 9:6 15:17
 52:5 53:5 54:5
fees 47:1 49:11
 62:7
Field 25:23
fight 53:5,6
fighters 53:4

final 41:14
finally 8:7 10:1
 42:22
financial 22:3,5
find 9:20 10:17
 20:8 27:5
 37:15 39:23
 40:18,22
first 11:3 43:20
 51:20 57:9
 65:9
firsthand 23:23
five 10:2 18:11
 18:12
fix 10:25
fixed 40:4
fleet 38:8,9,11
 38:17
fliers 65:17
 68:4
floor 27:24
 43:10
flow 22:1
focus 21:25
focused 5:15
 6:23 28:25
FOIA 45:17
folks 15:18,19
 50:25
follow 16:3
 42:17,19 48:1
followed 32:17
 40:4
following 49:3
 67:19
followup 47:25
 48:1
food 65:12
footage 9:18
Force 21:5 23:25
 24:2
forces 20:22,25
 21:11 23:17
foregoing 69:9
forfeiture 22:5
 60:23
forgotten 41:15
 41:15
form 59:5
formal 16:23
formally 15:3
former 43:7

Fort 61:1
forth 9:19 64:21
 69:11
forty 18:10
 51:10
forum 6:19 17:22
forward 5:19
 6:21 7:1,9
 14:14 15:9
 31:10 34:13
 39:3 50:2 55:7
 59:22 61:9
 62:18
found 32:23
four 17:2,7
four-million
 62:10
friendly 65:11
friends 53:11
front 3:18 6:23
 39:18,18,20
 59:20
full 44:25 45:9
 59:25 69:13
functioning 13:1
funding 22:10,14
funds 5:21
funneled 24:6
funniest 66:2,3
further 18:18,20
 29:17 56:18
future 9:13

G

gain 44:15
gains 11:19
garage 45:19
gathering 66:6
geared 23:17,18
general 21:25
 28:14
generally 34:24
Generals 21:15
gentleman 64:8
gentlemen 3:5
genuine 50:24
George 2:17 3:12
 3:16 11:7
getting 11:13
 12:18,19 31:1
 32:2 45:16
 48:4 55:21

give 5:7,8 11:9
 27:12 29:11
 38:1 52:21
 53:3 62:17
given 61:4
glad 23:15 60:8
glitch 40:25
glitches 30:10
GL-MIE-0422 21:9
GL-MIE-0460
 21:10
GL-MIE-0483 21:9
go 29:17 33:6
 36:11 40:1
 42:24 46:21
 54:2 55:9
 56:18 57:24
 63:13 66:12
 68:1
goal 25:20
goals 9:14
God 4:12,13,19
 4:20,21,22,23
goes 26:8 56:22
going 3:13 8:14
 12:7 20:19
 25:5 29:6 31:6
 31:7,7,10 32:6
 33:5,6,6 34:13
 37:1 38:1,2
 39:1,2,3 40:3
 41:2 42:7,15
 42:16 44:12
 45:1 47:4
 52:20,21 53:4
 53:14,16 54:17
 55:4,7,7,13
 56:20,20 57:4
 57:6 59:22,24
 59:24 60:12
 63:10 65:21,21
 67:1,2,3,10,10
 67:18,19
good 3:4,10 4:9
 4:11 7:14
 18:16 23:24
 36:4,7 43:8
 52:1,6,11,15
 54:13,14 60:6
 62:17 65:8
 66:17
goods 65:15

gorgeous 52:11
govern 67:23
government 24:21
 27:5
grace 4:13
Grand 55:19
grant 20:19,20
 27:24
granted 22:10
great 4:21 19:25
 32:21 36:20
 42:20 50:12
 66:16,17,19
greater 62:17
greatly 18:23
greet 53:13
Greg 57:9 60:18
Gregory 54:15
group 24:25
 26:20,25 27:1
 50:24 51:1,2,3
 51:4,13,14
groups 39:6
grow 4:19,20
guaranties 9:18
 12:18
Guardian 62:25
 64:9
guards 63:16,18
 64:4
guess 35:5,6
 66:6
guides 63:14
gun 32:23
gun's 32:25
gut 67:17
guys 46:21 52:11

H

Halloween 56:7,9
hammered 48:15
hand 50:11
handle 26:24
handled 34:9
hands 24:14
Hanson 3:24
happen 40:21
 57:4 67:10
happened 13:3
 42:3 55:22
 57:17
happening 46:12

happens 61:21
hard 7:1 10:15
 11:5 51:9,11
 56:22 60:10
Headquarters
 1:17 43:4
heads 60:13
hear 43:17 46:21
 50:3,9,9,11,14
 51:16 53:10
heard 6:5 7:8
 42:17 47:24
 50:20 51:21
 56:2
hearing 16:8
 28:2 46:18
 48:12 65:2
 68:5,12
heart 4:19 67:17
Hello 46:16
help 4:18,18,19
 4:25 9:13
 10:23 12:21
 15:11 47:19
 61:12 67:14
helping 15:18
 56:5
hereinbefore
 69:10
He'll 42:25
high 45:13 60:13
higher 23:18
hill 54:18
Hispanic 24:12
historical 29:12
histories 17:18
 19:16
history 25:8
 41:25
homeless 65:12
honest 20:8 50:1
Honorable 22:15
honored 52:5
hope 10:2 28:11
 41:14 53:7,8
 65:10
hopefully 10:4
 32:6 55:3
hoping 9:11,24
 33:9
hours 27:3
hub 24:6 25:22

25:24
hundred 34:20
 36:14,15

I

idea 52:16
Ideally 37:23
identification
 32:5
identify 33:3
identifying 22:2
illegal 28:10
illicit 22:1
immediate 56:18
immediately 55:7
 55:9 56:17
 57:12,19,21
 61:21 62:2,22
 67:19
immense 24:5,13
impact 18:4
implement 61:8
implemented 14:9
 15:13 30:19,22
 58:23
implementing
 29:16,18
important 53:9
impound 48:22
 49:2,3 54:16
 54:22 55:14
 58:6 63:15,23
 64:3
improvement 9:23
inadequate 47:23
incarcerate
 28:20
incarcerated
 44:11 66:22
incarceration
 23:3 28:23
 43:24
incident 13:3
 36:20
incidents 32:22
 32:23 33:22
inclined 17:5
include 15:21,23
included 15:22
 18:4
increase 31:10
increased 23:10

28:17
indicated 38:4
indication 38:1
individual 44:7
 44:9
individually
 37:1
individuals
 17:15 27:1
 43:17 45:23
industrialized
 23:13
inform 10:11
information
 17:17 18:3
 19:4, 6, 8, 8, 20
 30:24 36:17
 45:3 48:25
informed 19:3
infrastructure
 22:4
initiative 21:9
initiatives 21:8
input 6:19
inside 13:3
insidious 66:24
Insight 35:12, 13
 35:14, 19 37:7
 37:12 39:7
insisted 48:21
inspect 40:15
 41:10
inspection 46:25
inspections
 29:25 39:3
 40:14 49:12
Inspector 20:7
Inspectors 17:2
 17:7 18:11
 19:7, 23
installed 38:5
instances 33:25
insurance 47:15
insurances 46:25
integrity 5:18
 33:21 34:6
intent 19:13
interacting
 66:18
interaction
 38:20 66:14
intercepting

25:25
interim 2:18
 11:22 16:22
 22:16 23:14
 29:9
international
 24:4
interview 10:3
interviewing
 10:1
introduce 3:14
 39:20
introduction
 39:18
introductions
 3:25
inventory 32:4
investigate
 40:18
investigates
 41:6
investigation
 22:11 26:3
 40:22 47:25
investigations
 21:1, 7 22:5, 8
 24:5, 10 25:17
 27:10 30:16, 18
Investigator
 3:18 8:15, 18
 10:7, 7 13:21
 13:25 14:20
 16:11
Investigators
 8:16 10:2, 17
 15:5, 10, 22
invocation 4:9
involved 23:22
 53:20
involvement 23:7
issue 10:25 59:5
 66:22
issued 60:21
issues 5:6 30:7
 34:6, 7, 8 35:19
 35:21 38:14
 50:2, 11 62:4
item 7:2
items 6:24

J

Jack 48:20, 21

50:6, 7, 7, 8
James 4:8
January 9:24
Jeff 29:10, 14
Jerome 2:12 3:6
Jessica 2:14 3:9
Jesus 4:13 5:1
Jim 43:24
job 10:10 11:6
 11:11 12:9
 16:20 27:15
 39:23 41:21
 58:12 62:16, 19
 65:20, 24 66:19
Johnson 23:24, 25
 25:6, 13 26:18
 27:4, 20, 22
join 27:16 67:6
 67:7
joined 7:13
jointly 48:14
 51:1

K

keep 15:5 18:19
 26:6 46:11
 60:13
keeping 15:9, 18
kept 59:17
killed 67:12
kind 32:4
kindness 4:14
Kirk 54:1
know 4:3 6:18, 18
 6:24 7:3 10:1
 10:12, 19, 24
 13:16, 24 17:20
 19:17 20:8
 27:14 31:11
 32:5, 18 33:1
 33:22 35:5
 36:15, 16 37:4

37:17, 23, 25
 38:11 39:14
 40:6 43:22
 44:1 46:17
 48:6, 7, 8, 14
 49:20 50:3, 19
 51:8, 21, 22
 52:11, 20, 25
 53:18, 18 54:24
 55:12 56:1
 57:6 58:2, 5
 59:8 60:11, 11
 61:21 62:1, 6, 7
 62:8, 21 64:2, 5
 64:7, 10, 18
 65:20 66:5
knowing 15:10
know-how 27:18
Koller 1:21 3:24
 69:8, 18

L

LA 60:7
ladies 3:4
language 58:17
larger 25:14
 26:21
laser 5:15 6:23
lastly 15:20
laundering 21:18
 21:23
law 49:3
laws 59:4
laying 32:25
lead 4:8
leads 27:13
learn 33:12
leave 66:3
left 7:2 41:1
legal 45:7
letter 19:10
level 23:17, 18
 28:24 42:14
 44:4 45:12, 14
license 46:24
Lieutenant 19:6
 20:5
Lieutenants 17:2
 17:7 19:11, 23
light 64:13
lights 35:23
 36:1 37:9

limit 43:16
list 56:10 57:25
listening 9:19
literally 60:21
litigation 46:11
little 11:1
 29:17
live 50:12
livelihood 46:19
local 24:4 27:6
locate 20:6
located 58:4
 63:4 67:8
location 58:5
locked 45:18
log 39:22 44:15
 45:15,16,17
Logan 2:18 3:10
 11:22,23 13:17
 16:22,23 17:10
 17:24 18:6,24
 19:10,19,24
 20:6 22:16
 23:14,15 29:9
 29:10 35:12
 42:25 52:3
 54:7,10 60:4
 66:20 67:25
 68:3
Loletha 3:18
long 37:11,16
 45:8
longer 45:5 47:3
long-term 9:13
 26:3
look 4:12,15,20
 4:21 12:1 14:5
 18:10 36:11,12
 39:5 47:16
 52:11 62:4
looked 6:20 30:1
 34:2,4
looking 5:21
 8:22,24 9:17
 11:4 30:16,24
 34:5 47:21
 52:14 59:3
looks 5:25,25
Lord 4:12,12,13
 4:14,16,17,19
 4:19,21,22,23
 4:25

Los 43:7
lose 11:18
lot 7:8,8,11
 10:13,18 33:2
 38:12 41:24
 48:25 58:6
 60:12,14
lots 17:6
loud 6:5
love 5:1 42:18
loved 67:12
loving 4:14
low 23:17 28:24
 44:4 45:12

M

major 7:2 21:17
 21:22 22:2
 27:17
majority 30:1
 38:10,22,24
 41:21
making 10:4
 12:17 38:19
 48:3 62:3
males 23:3,10
 24:11,15
man 52:17 54:11
Manager 3:22
man-hours 27:5
 27:18
Martin 48:20,21
 50:6,7,7,8
MAS 9:5 41:25
mass 43:24
massive 66:7,7
matter 9:21 44:5
 45:9 46:20
 49:23
matters 4:6 5:4
 6:4 45:7 46:1
Mayor 4:21 52:21
 53:12 54:3
Mayor's 6:10
ma'am 13:22
 16:18 50:18
 52:3 54:7,10
 65:7
mean 18:5 42:9
 45:20 50:10
 59:14,15 63:25
 64:2

means 7:11 46:19
media 47:21
meet 4:16 49:17
meeting 1:3 3:6
 4:3,9 7:25
 18:17 43:3
 47:9 48:19
 51:7,17 55:19
 59:6 65:22
meetings 59:20
meets 50:21
MEMBER 2:13
members 15:14,21
 51:7
memorable 65:11
memorandum 60:20
 60:22
memos 62:20
men 12:8 32:13
 33:18 41:20
 60:9,15 66:2,9
 66:25
mentioned 36:19
 36:22 60:19
mercy 4:14
message 11:12
 30:14,15
met 48:14 50:10
 50:20,25 51:1
 51:1,2,5 52:18
Metro 24:7
Mexican 24:11
Mexico 26:1
mic 32:24 36:23
 37:8,12,23
 43:13
Michelle 43:23
Michigan 1:1,18
 2:6 3:1 23:12
 25:1,2 49:4
 54:16 69:4,20
microphone 31:9
 31:21 35:20
microphones
 31:21,23,23
 32:2 35:20
mics 13:2 31:4,7
 31:18 32:5
 36:2,22,24
 37:1 39:15
 41:23
midst 43:9

Mile 55:19
millionaires
 47:19
mind 4:18
minds 4:17 50:1
minutes 5:5 7:25
 8:8 23:23
 50:19 60:1
misplaced 28:19
mistreated 13:5
moments 42:23
Monday 53:1
money 21:18,23
 24:20 26:15,23
 47:2 52:22
monies 5:11 26:7
 26:14
monitor 33:18
 37:25
monitored 36:8
monitoring 62:25
month 8:18 9:17
 33:8
monthly 8:16
months 12:2 30:1
 30:4,13 56:10
 56:11
morning 9:21
Moses 66:11
mother 52:18
motion 7:17,23
 7:24 8:7,7
 16:9,18 22:17
 27:23 28:5
 64:15 65:6
 68:6
motorcycles
 66:10
mount 21:12 63:5
 64:10
move 6:21 7:1,9
 7:18 8:9 14:14
 16:12 22:19
 29:5 41:2
 44:13 50:2
 60:22 61:1
moved 7:20 8:1,3
 8:11 22:22
 58:4 63:7
 64:24 68:9,10
moves 62:18 65:1
moving 5:19

11:17 15:9
 18:20 61:9
municipal 48:24
 49:1 54:22,25
 55:12 58:3,3
 63:5,24 64:16
 64:25

N

name 3:6 4:13
 5:1 43:15
 46:16
narcotic 60:24
narcotics 24:5
 24:13 25:15
 26:1,7 27:10
nationalities
 24:10
nationwide 21:20
 22:8
naturally 58:10
nature 26:4,7
near 24:17
necessarily
 33:18 38:13
 58:18
need 10:15 13:9
 14:24,25 19:7
 19:15,16 27:14
 28:20 40:6
 41:8 46:8
 48:25 50:15
 51:16 53:6,8
 53:21 61:8,21
 62:1
needed 9:23 15:4
 15:8
needs 5:12 40:17
 41:1,3 46:4
 50:8,9,11
 60:14
negatives 60:12
negotiation
 56:20
never 25:16 53:7
new 5:9 10:2
 20:18 29:19
 30:8 31:13,14
 32:12 35:1
 38:2 42:12,15
 43:7,24 58:4,5
 62:3 63:20

news 47:21
night 53:12
ninety 8:24
Nobody's 56:5
noise 50:13
noisy 50:13
nonperishable
 65:15
Northeastern
 32:1 37:19
 65:16
Notary 69:19
note 55:21
noted 8:25
notice 10:14
 55:8,8 56:19
 56:19 57:12
notify 39:21
November 1:20
 3:2 7:25 8:8
 12:3
number 8:19 11:3
 11:14 12:25
 29:7 32:2
 48:21 52:4
 54:18,23 55:1
 55:1,8 61:1
 63:1,2,4 64:10
numbers 13:15
 21:9 27:9
numerous 21:21

O

Oakland 26:23
objection 8:12
 16:14
obligations
 61:24
observations
 9:25
obtained 31:24
obviously 11:12
 14:9 32:16
OCDETF 21:7,8,11
 21:14,24
OCI 9:5 15:4,14
 15:21
October 9:20
 12:2
offered 62:8,9
office 3:22 6:10
 8:16 16:11

17:14,15,20
 25:22,23 29:15
 39:2
Officer 21:6
 24:25 26:20
 31:8 37:1
Officers 4:22
 7:7 12:17
 17:16 27:9
 30:23 31:3,19
 32:18,22 33:23
 34:11 36:21,22
 41:24 42:1,6
 42:18 45:1
 63:8,16
offices 10:13
 25:21
officials 49:17
off-duty 40:13
Oh 41:18
okay 15:25 17:9
 17:23,25 19:13
 19:25 20:14,16
 25:7 42:23
 55:1 56:3,11
 56:13 57:1
 59:11,23 64:12
 67:21
old 12:24 13:18
 13:19,20 17:12
 29:5,21 34:19
 35:1,11 43:2
 55:5
older 29:20
 31:12 35:18,20
 36:3
once 5:6 33:10
 33:12 36:25
 52:20 56:21
 65:21
ones 19:14 32:3
 32:7 33:3
 67:12
on-duty 40:13,13
open 14:15 17:21
 43:10 48:9,22
 54:25 59:6,24
opened 54:21
openness 50:1
operates 21:20
operation 39:10
 40:10

operational
 30:13 39:8
 40:3,7 41:23
operations 25:8
 26:8 38:23
opinion 23:9
 45:7
opinions 47:10
opportunity 14:4
 20:4
opposed 7:23 8:6
 16:17 28:4
 65:5
opposite 12:6
 33:17
oral 43:11
order 37:3 62:17
Ordinance 63:11
 63:15 64:5,6
ordinances 49:3
organizations
 21:17,18,23
 22:3,4,9 25:15
organized 20:21
 20:24 21:4,10
 21:12 23:9
 28:15
outlining 64:17
outside 5:22
 25:19
outsiders 53:22
outstanding
 11:11 16:20
 41:21 65:24
overall 14:6
overdue 8:20
overhead 35:23
 37:9
overheads 31:6
overnight 55:13
 57:5,6,18
 60:21 62:20
overtime 24:21
owner 54:16

P

page 1:14 66:23
paid 48:4
Pamela 3:17 8:18
paper 52:24 53:8
 53:24
parade 53:10,18

65:24 66:4,5
parameters 25:4
parking 48:24
 49:1 54:22,25
 55:13 58:3,3
 63:5,24 64:16
 64:25
part 11:17 21:4
 24:15 34:4
 38:17 67:12
participate 21:7
 65:15
particular 5:14
 11:13 15:8
 17:22 23:11
particularly
 23:2 28:24
parting 66:11
parts 22:9
pass 55:17 56:14
 58:20
passed 49:6 57:2
 61:15
passion 48:13
Pastor 4:8 5:3
pathway 66:10
patrol 30:2
 34:22 37:21
 38:9,13,16,21
 38:23
patrols 38:18
patting 11:10
Paul 22:11 67:8
pay 11:13 24:22
 24:22 47:6,14
 49:10,11
paying 47:13
penal 23:11
pending 45:24
people 7:6 15:7
 23:19,20,22
 24:9 27:14
 30:23 32:15,22
 33:4 34:2,21
 37:15 41:10
 43:14 46:5
 47:16,17 48:3
 49:18 51:1,4
 51:10 53:19
 66:12,22 67:15
people's 50:14
percent 6:6

34:21 35:8,9
 35:10 36:14,15
 38:9
percentage 35:5
 38:11
period 8:23
 46:13
permission 20:20
 20:23 22:13
 27:25
permits 61:23
 67:14
person 30:7
 32:24
personal 47:7
personally 48:23
 64:7
Personnel 3:19
 36:9
persons 28:13
perspective
 10:14 32:12
 62:5
phenomenal 51:15
philanthropic
 6:11
phone 56:17
pick 39:4
piggyback 60:18
place 14:13,23
 15:1 29:21
 40:22 41:5
 45:18 49:7,8
 61:16,16 64:21
 69:10
places 27:13
plan 31:13 48:18
 48:18
planned 56:8
 59:24
planning 9:10,13
play 33:16
pleading 27:7
please 3:14
 10:11,24 11:9
 27:8 36:19
 43:13 58:10
 60:5 65:14
 68:2
pleasure 14:10
 48:11
plethora 41:11

plus 29:23
pocket 47:15
podium 4:7 29:11
point 25:3
police 1:2,17
 2:4,8 3:6,7,10
 3:19 5:10 6:1
 11:12 12:15,20
 16:4 18:1 20:1
 20:25 22:16
 24:25 26:20
 27:6 38:19
 43:4,7,8,12,20
 51:20 52:7,22
 52:22 53:5
 54:16,24 55:2
 55:14,16 59:9
 59:10 63:8,16
 65:23 67:6
policies 58:13
 58:14,20
policy 11:20
 14:2,13,21
 15:13,21 16:1
 16:4,10 33:7
 40:6,7 49:15
 62:3
policymaking
 58:13
Political 52:2
politics 53:21
polls 6:7
Porter 3:18
portion 26:21,24
 27:17 65:22
position 33:23
 54:6
positioned 33:25
possession 44:8
 44:9
possibility 40:1
possible 12:17
 13:15 18:21
 33:12 43:17
possibly 39:24
 44:13
potent 23:5
potluck 67:19
pound 54:18 55:8
 63:1,3,4 64:11
Powell 4:8,11
 5:3

power 60:14
powers 47:3,7
practical 49:21
practices 55:4
 57:8 61:15
prayer 60:14
prayers 6:16
 7:11
precedents 5:16
 5:16
precinct 42:14
precincts 30:2
preexisting
 64:21
presence 23:10
 43:9
present 2:16
 3:14,17,21 4:2
presented 45:14
 48:18
preserve 5:18,18
press 50:4
pretty 31:5,5
pre-senior 42:23
prior 14:23
 40:16,16
priorities 28:19
prison 23:12
privately 50:10
 50:20
privatized 23:12
probably 9:11
 30:6 32:15
 34:9 42:2
problem 28:21
 29:1
problems 30:4,5
 36:3 53:16,23
procedure 30:20
 33:6 40:25
 53:1
procedures 41:4
proceed 64:19
proceedings 3:23
 69:10,14
proceeds 22:2
process 5:19,19
 6:21 7:9 10:3
 34:4 40:9
 44:20 45:11
 50:16
produced 42:1

professional 43:4 68:12
 5:24 23:9
profit 26:18, 21
program 21:11, 14
 21:20 67:7, 11
 67:20
progress 18:20
progressive 14:2
 14:20 16:10
Project 22:12
proliferation
 23:2
prolong 18:18
promote 18:11, 12
 18:13 19:14
promoting 23:12
promotion 17:16
 18:9 19:13
promotional 20:5
promotions 16:25
 17:6 19:12
properly 7:20
 8:3, 11 22:22
 33:24, 25 64:23
 68:10
prosecutions
 21:8
protect 56:15, 19
 56:21 57:3
 58:18, 19 59:15
 61:8
proudly 61:11
provisional 14:9
 15:12 24:24
provisionally
 14:13
public 48:20
 49:17 66:18
 69:19
purchased 30:8
 36:25
purpose 33:20
purposes 33:22
pursue 44:12
pushing 49:9
put 15:1 27:3, 5
 27:8 30:14
 37:22 39:9, 19
 47:2 48:20
 49:8 54:25
 64:21 67:11
p.m 1:19 3:3

43:4 68:12
P54338 2:2

Q

quality 8:22, 24
question 16:1
 18:3, 25 33:14
 41:14 42:4, 5
 46:1, 2, 2 54:23
 55:11
questions 10:7
 13:21 18:1, 18
 18:22 20:1, 16
 22:23 23:16
 26:11, 12 27:20
 27:20 31:15
 34:15, 16 36:18
 41:16, 19 43:21
 47:10 57:11, 24
 57:24 64:18
quick 18:2
Quinn 3:23
quite 32:9
quo 55:22
quorum 4:2, 3 5:6
 7:13

R

race 28:11
radio 54:1
raised 44:20
 45:20 51:9
raising 43:21
ramped 33:8, 9, 12
random 39:4
Rate 59:21
reach 24:4 25:17
 25:19
reaching 24:13
react 62:21
read 20:20 41:11
 52:24 53:23
readily 23:6
 45:22
ready 3:5 66:6
realized 27:6
really 11:23
 24:9 34:21
 38:18 40:21
 52:12, 19 53:9
 56:22 60:10, 11
 66:16

realtime 35:25
 36:1, 9 38:3
reason 5:13
reasonable 49:25
receive 5:6 20:4
 26:21
received 15:14
 15:16 17:14, 20
 19:4, 6 27:17
 66:15
receptive 14:18
recognize 43:5
recommended
 17:16
reconsidered
 46:13
record 3:16 7:12
 14:23 15:21
 16:2 31:7
 43:15 48:20
 55:17 56:15
 59:16, 18 61:8
 62:8
recorded 32:23
recording 3:22
 32:24 35:24, 25
 35:25
Recovery 54:16
redirecting 22:6
reduce 21:16
reduced 69:11
reducing 22:1
reduction 12:4
 23:4
reference 37:7
reflect 7:12
refreshed 28:25
regarding 14:20
 17:15 20:21, 24
 29:7
regardless 28:10
regards 11:9
 52:21
regime 55:5
regular 1:3 2:13
 15:22 34:22
 38:15, 18
reimburse 24:21
reimbursement
 24:20
reinstruct 34:11
related 21:18

22:9 34:7 44:5
 45:7
relates 5:4, 5, 9
 10:24 23:2
 36:19 59:2, 4
 64:25 65:1
relationship
 43:22 45:2, 23
relative 44:2, 13
 45:3
relaxed 66:18
reliability 36:3
reliable 35:21
remedies 64:20
remind 67:4
reminder 65:11
removed 61:6
reneged 52:23
renewal 46:24
repaired 39:25
repeated 5:13
report 5:8 8:16
 8:24 13:22
 16:21, 23 28:17
 28:18 29:7
 39:15
reported 69:9
REPORTER 69:1
Reporting 3:24
reports 9:21
 42:1
represent 51:3
represented
 50:24
representing
 51:4
represents 51:13
 51:14
request 16:25
 20:19, 23 22:18
 22:20 27:24, 25
 48:15
requested 9:5
requesting 17:4
 20:20 21:1
 22:13
require 30:17
research 12:5
resolution 49:6
 55:17 56:15
 57:1, 15 59:6
resources 10:12

21:21 22:1,6
 25:10 28:22
respect 41:10
respective 66:12
responsibilities
 7:4
responsibility
 5:14 40:18
responsible 25:1
 25:25
rest 61:19
results 31:3
retained 44:19
 45:4
retaining 30:11
retirees 52:13
Retirement 52:7
retrieval 45:21
 46:1
retrofit 29:20
 31:12
revenue 62:10
revenues 5:11
review 9:1 14:5
 30:18 33:16
 34:4
reviewing 9:17
reviews 9:17
 30:20,25 33:4
 33:21 34:5
right 4:2 6:25
 11:17 15:10,18
 20:16 34:18
 35:10 43:2,14
 45:11 46:23
 47:1 49:14,24
 49:25 53:4
 54:8 56:17
 65:22 66:4
rights 29:15
 44:23
rise 12:8
River 55:19
Robert 3:21
role 33:15
Romano 17:11
 65:8,9
Romeo 29:10,14
 29:14 31:16,20
 32:14 33:20
 34:20 35:8,18
 37:6,13 38:6

38:10 39:1,17
 40:11 41:7
 42:11
Ron 43:19
Room 1:16 2:5
rough 35:5
rules 46:14 49:8
 58:24 59:1,2
 61:16,22,25
 64:21
run 9:7 58:22
running 10:18,19
 30:15,23 33:13
runs 38:19

S

Saint 67:8
Santa 53:13,13
saw 36:20 64:8
saying 32:25
 45:25 46:10
 47:22 55:6,21
 56:16 57:7,11
 57:12,18 60:25
says 59:21
scene 42:4
schedule 67:14
Scott 43:19,19
 46:15
scrutinizing
 8:21
sea 66:11
search 5:9,11,23
searching 5:10
seat 54:9
seated 3:18
second 9:1 16:13
 22:21 61:14
 68:8,11
secondary 62:24
Secretary 2:17
 3:11,15,16
securities 63:9
security 62:25
 63:1 64:9
see 4:10 7:14
 9:22 11:2 12:3
 12:6,24 19:16
 19:17 28:25
 29:1 31:2
 33:11 34:7
 36:13 39:3

45:16 47:16
 48:11 52:10,13
 53:14 54:1
 59:7 63:25
 66:12,17 68:11
seeing 12:10
 16:8 28:2 43:2
 48:12 65:2
 68:5
seek 22:15
seemingly 53:1
seen 17:19 25:9
 31:9 32:21
 41:22 51:22
selected 6:20
self-made 47:18
SEMMA 60:6 61:17
 62:13,23 63:4
 63:12,17,21
 64:1,7
send 39:24 55:20
 62:20 64:24
sent 56:24 57:12
 62:20
sentiments 28:11
 29:4
Sergeant 3:23
 20:4 23:24,24
 25:6,13 26:18
 27:4,20,22
 28:9
Sergeants 17:3
 18:10 19:7,11
 19:22 33:16
series 44:6
serious 5:20 7:4
 28:21
seriously 5:25
serve 4:25 22:12
server 30:8,8
Service 3:24
Services 31:11
 36:8
Serving 3:8
session 9:10
set 62:1 64:21
 66:6 69:10
setting 5:16,16
share 8:15 29:4
 44:1 67:21
sharing 26:19,21
Sheriffs 26:23

shift 30:21
 33:15 39:25
 40:14,16,17,23
shifts 39:6,13
shirt 64:9
short 18:10,12
 18:13,14 59:8
shortly 66:9
shot 52:17 66:15
show 4:5 12:1
 42:3 53:1
sick 56:2
side 28:23,23
sides 48:17
sign 61:5
signature 64:15
signed 61:22
significant
 22:25 43:25
significantly
 11:15
similar 44:10,25
simple 55:2
sir 3:10 4:9
 7:14 10:21
 12:13 13:15
 14:3,8 16:19
 16:21 17:23,24
 17:25 18:6,24
 19:24 20:1,6
 20:17 23:15
 25:13 27:4,21
 29:4 34:17
 42:24 43:6,8
 54:14 60:2,4
 65:6 66:19
 67:22
sitting 3:12
 9:18 56:6
situation 40:11
 44:4,25
situations 41:24
Six 55:19
slower 10:18,19
small 44:8
Smith 52:1,1,4
 54:8,11,12
soap 53:8
soapbox 28:18
somebody 27:8
 40:17
something's 40:3

somewhat 41:12
 54:19
soon 13:15 33:11
sorry 20:2 35:13
sort 55:18
sound 13:6,10
 29:8 35:17
 41:12
Southeast 25:1
speak 11:24
 23:22
SPEAKER 68:1
speaking 37:7
specific 25:5
specifically
 10:15 21:8
 23:11 25:11
specifying 46:3
speed 15:19
spend 27:18
spending 28:17
 62:14
spent 10:12
 24:20
spirit 58:11
spoke 24:3
sporadically
 30:12
spot 24:24
spring 30:1
SS 69:5
staff 3:14 10:10
 11:7,12 13:5,7
 14:12 15:24
 33:15 52:8,13
 62:21 66:14
stage 53:7,12
stages 32:10
stand 5:9 13:25
 43:6
standard 52:25
standing 3:21
standpoint 64:3
start 30:16 31:1
 66:4
started 4:15
 25:10
starting 29:20
 31:11
starts 39:25
state 1:1 43:15
 49:4 62:24

69:4
statement 41:19
 53:13
statements 9:19
States 21:2,15
 26:1,2
station 54:1
status 15:13
 28:11 55:22
stay 54:8 65:10
 65:11
staying 7:10
steady 12:10
steam 59:25
stenographically
 69:9
step 13:8
stop 24:16 33:4
 33:21 56:25
 57:1
stopped 24:13
 32:22
stops 30:20 31:3
 31:4 33:23
 38:19 42:7
stored 61:2
straighten 62:6
strategic 9:10
 21:7
strategy 21:15
 21:24
stream 62:11
street 12:9 61:2
streets 33:19
 56:8 66:8
strike 35:14
string 66:16
structured 19:11
studies 23:1
stuff 10:15
stupid 47:22
submit 64:16
submitted 14:1
 59:19
subsequently
 44:7
substitute 52:5
 52:6
success 27:7
sudden 40:16
suggestion 14:15
 50:15

suggestions 6:17
 14:17
suitable 6:1
summer 30:1,4
Sunday 52:6
supervision
 69:12
Supervisor 39:22
 41:6
Supervisors 9:1
 9:16,22 15:16
 15:22 34:10
Supervisor's
 39:23 40:14
support 7:7,8,10
 7:19 8:2,10
 51:23 67:14
supported 7:21
 8:4,12 22:23
 64:24
supposed 40:15
 44:17 58:6
 63:8
sure 5:18,22
 6:12 12:17
 17:13 25:20
 28:7 30:23
 32:3,4 34:12
 36:13 37:14
 49:9,19,25
 53:23 55:12
 58:13,14,20
 64:1 66:10
surveillance
 27:12
survivors 67:12
sustainability
 12:1
Swanson 52:18
sweeping 5:24
sworn 15:24
system 9:6 23:11
 24:15 29:13,17
 29:21,22,24
 30:5 31:13,14
 34:19 35:1,2,7
 35:11,18,19,22
 36:2,3,7,11,21
 37:7 38:2,25
 39:8 40:23,24
 42:16 48:2
systems 10:18

29:19,21 33:12
 35:16 42:8
system's 36:16

T

table 3:12 6:5
 50:1 51:10,11
take 23:9 29:10
 40:17,22 57:7
 58:11
taken 1:16 6:8
talk 11:24 18:8
 54:2 67:2
talked 13:2
 52:21 66:21
talking 10:16
talks 28:19
tapes 9:17
targeted 22:9
 25:11 28:16
targeting 22:2
task 6:23 7:10
 20:22,25 21:4
 21:10 23:16,25
 24:2
taxes 47:14
 49:11
Taylor 2:14 3:9
 7:18 8:1,10
 10:8 16:13
 19:2 20:20,23
 22:21 26:12
 34:16 41:17
 64:23 68:8
tech 30:7 37:15
technical 31:11
 64:3
technological
 30:5
technologies
 57:3
technology 32:12
 32:18 36:8
 40:24
teletype 55:6,21
 56:17,25 57:7
 57:18 60:25
teletype-wise
 60:22
tell 27:11,11
 36:9 38:3 47:3
 47:8 50:6,7

telling 11:2
 53:22
tells 12:5 61:24
tend 12:8 23:18
 23:19
tender 4:14
terms 18:9 28:12
 28:22 29:13
 43:23 45:10
terrorist 25:18
Texas 25:22
thank 3:15 4:1,9
 4:13,15 5:3
 7:6,10,15 8:17
 10:6,9 11:11
 12:12 13:22,23
 14:19 16:6,7
 16:18,19,21
 17:25 20:1,16
 26:9,9 27:21
 27:22 28:5
 29:4 34:14,14
 35:13 41:18
 42:24 43:1,21
 46:15 50:18
 51:23,23,25
 54:12 57:9
 60:2,2 61:12
 61:13 62:23
 64:12 65:6,7
 65:18,19,19,23
 67:22 68:5
thanks 12:8
Thanksgiving
 66:5
thing 32:16 36:4
 36:7 40:20
 42:16 43:25
 49:14,24 50:12
 53:3 54:25
 55:25 56:7
 66:2,4,21
things 10:16
 11:23 12:5
 26:7 34:2,12
 37:4,17,20
 44:3 46:11
 49:7 57:17,18
 60:11 62:16
think 5:12 10:25
 11:14,16 15:16
 17:16 23:7

28:11,21 29:3
 31:13 32:8,14
 32:15 33:2,5
 36:5,25 41:8
 41:15,25 42:1
 44:23 45:14
 46:1,12 50:3
 53:15 58:10
 61:7 62:15,19
 66:23,24
thinking 47:23
 57:2
third 38:8
thirty 44:6
thorough 14:25
threats 22:7
three 20:21,24
 21:2 24:19,23
 56:10,11
Thursday 1:20
 8:8 43:3 66:8
Thursday's 7:25
tickles 11:2
ties 25:18
time 5:25 7:16
 8:14,24 10:13
 17:23 20:18
 29:5,16 35:24
 36:14 37:14
 43:10,16,18
 44:14 52:15
 56:12 60:23
 62:19 66:17
 67:16 69:10
timeframe 39:15
 44:16
timely 9:9 12:17
times 12:7 44:10
 63:8
tired 46:17
 47:21 48:12
today 3:8 4:16
 17:14 21:14
 23:21 52:10
today's 4:9 7:17
toilet 53:8
Tolbert 66:15
told 9:16 36:24
 45:4,15 53:11
 56:4,7 58:1
 61:21 63:7
tolerate 58:25

59:1
Toliver 18:17
tomorrow 9:2,3
tool 15:17 33:17
top 26:24 28:25
 48:3
total 8:19 11:3
 24:23
totally 54:4
tough 32:16
 60:11
tour 39:19
tow 57:13 59:20
 61:24
towed 48:24 55:9
 55:14 57:5
 58:23
tower 59:9
towers 46:23
 48:17 51:3,4
 51:14 55:14
 56:16 57:4
 58:18,19 59:15
 60:16 61:19
towing 46:17,18
 47:19 56:1,3
 58:21 60:23
 61:7 62:9,11
town 53:20
track 15:5,10,18
traffic 30:20,21
 31:3,4 33:4,21
 33:23 38:19
 42:6,7
traffickers
 21:13 23:18
trafficking
 21:17,23 22:3
trained 34:11
training 9:24
 33:21 34:6
 37:18,18 42:19
transcription
 69:12,13
transparency
 50:2
transpired 40:23
 59:4
tremendous 12:3
true 53:14 54:3
 69:13
try 36:6 51:6,8

trying 8:23 20:6
 24:16 28:12
 46:20 59:2
tune 6:6 7:3
turn 29:6 67:14
turned 31:9
twelve-hour 39:6
twenty 17:2
 18:11
twenty-two 19:19
twice 30:24
 65:21
twin 52:17
two 6:20 8:20
 10:3 12:2 17:1
 17:2,7 18:12
 18:14 19:4
 24:12 29:21
 31:21 40:5
 44:2,10,19
 45:25 50:19
 52:16 55:1,14
 60:1
two-minute 43:16
type 25:8 35:7
 38:20 66:17
types 60:20,22
t-shirt 64:8

U

ultimate 25:20
ultimately 44:11
umbrella 25:10
unable 27:11
undercover 42:5
 42:6,13
understand 41:9
 46:19 48:22,24
 49:19 55:15
 58:17 61:14
understanding
 7:2 15:2 42:11
understands
 50:11
undone 7:2
unfairly 28:16
unfortunately
 17:19
uniform 52:12
unique 21:21
United 21:2,15
 26:1,2

units 44:6
unmarked 42:12
 42:13
unnecessary 54:4
unnoticed 41:2
un-operational
 40:8
update 5:7,8
 10:16 12:25
updates 9:5,6
uphold 6:13
uploaded 36:12
uploading 30:11
 36:10,14,16
upset 52:25
use 42:18 45:23
 58:4
usual 62:6

V

various 26:16
vast 27:9 41:21
vehicle 31:20,22
 37:3 39:19,24
 40:2
vehicles 29:7,19
 29:20 31:12
 38:12,12 40:13
 40:15 42:12,13
 42:13,13 60:24
 60:25 61:2
 63:6
vehicle's 40:3
vendor 30:9
verified 48:23
versus 28:23
Veterans 65:12
Vice 2:14 3:8
Victim 67:7
video 9:18 13:1
 13:6,12 29:8
 29:13 30:11,12
 30:17 31:10
 33:4 35:3,17
 35:22 36:16
 37:7,12 39:16
 41:12 42:3,8
 42:17 45:3
 46:2
videos 17:12
 32:21
video's 31:5

video/audio 35:7
view 28:16
violations 64:20
visit 12:24
voice 47:10
 49:15 50:21
voters 6:5,6
voting 4:5 5:4

W

waiting 4:4
walked 53:12
want 4:7 5:7,8
 5:17 6:21 7:3
 7:6,12,16 10:9
 10:11,22 11:11
 12:24 13:17
 16:24 19:14
 28:7 32:3 34:3
 34:20,23 37:24
 41:19 42:19
 43:5,10,20
 44:2,21,25
 45:6,23 46:6
 46:10,18 48:7
 49:9 51:8 54:1
 54:2,9 57:20
 59:11,21 60:2
 60:7,8 61:11
 62:23 65:23
wanted 6:8 33:11
 42:22 67:4
wants 36:6 64:6
war 23:1 43:22
Warfield 2:12
 3:4,7 4:1 5:3
 7:16,20,23 8:3
 8:6,11,14 10:6
 10:9,22 12:12
 12:23 13:19,24
 14:4,19 16:7
 16:14,17,20
 17:9,13,25
 18:25 19:3,15
 19:22,25 20:9
 20:12,15 22:17
 22:22 26:11,13
 27:2,19,23
 28:4 29:3
 31:15 34:15,17
 35:4,9,13
 36:18 37:11

38:4,7,21
 39:12 40:5
 41:4,8,18
 42:21 43:1
 46:15 48:10
 50:18,23 51:25
 54:12,14 57:9
 57:16,20,23
 59:13,16 60:1
 60:5 61:13,18
 62:14 63:2,10
 63:13,18,22
 64:2,12 65:5
 65:19 66:1
 67:22 68:4,10
Washington 2:2
 3:20 11:7
wasn't 30:11
 33:25 39:9
 41:19
Watching 53:10
wave 43:6
way 4:4,16 5:24
 7:9 13:8 19:10
 36:7 42:12
 47:12,14 49:21
 51:16 58:15
Wayne 69:6,20
ways 6:17
weak 38:2
wearable 31:18
wearing 64:8
Wednesday 48:19
 67:5
week 10:13 18:6
 18:19,21,22
 20:10 30:13,19
 30:22,25 31:2
 33:9,10 53:10
 68:11
weekend 43:23
weekly 30:20
 33:5
weeks 9:12 10:3
weigh 58:8
welcome 3:5 4:7
 53:15 54:11
 60:7,8 65:9
Welles 22:11
well-educated
 47:18
well-experienced

47:18
went 6:7 13:7
 37:18 64:7
 66:10
we'll 9:10 12:24
 13:20 17:20,21
 17:22 19:16,19
 19:20 29:5
 31:1,2 33:3
 50:4,15 51:17
 51:18 58:9,9
 59:6 62:21
 63:25 65:22
 66:3 67:23
we're 4:4 5:10
 5:15,16,23 7:9
 9:11,23 11:4
 12:7,9 14:15
 18:10,10,11,12
 18:12,13,14
 20:6 25:25
 27:11,15,15
 30:24 33:5,9
 33:11 38:17,19
 39:1,2 41:2
 44:12 47:4,13
 47:13,20,23,23
 48:6 49:8,23
 50:3 55:22
 56:19,20 58:18
 58:19 59:8,22
 59:23,24 60:23
 65:14 66:2,23
 67:1,2,3,5,18
 67:18
we've 5:15 6:18
 6:19 7:7 10:12
 11:19,25 14:4
 29:12,22 40:20
 41:20,22 61:11
 61:22
white 2:13 7:13
 7:14,15,19 8:2
 8:9 14:22
 15:12,20,25
 16:6,8,12 18:2
 18:15 20:2,3
 20:11,14 22:19
 22:23,24 25:3
 25:7 26:9 28:6
 31:17 32:11
 33:14 34:14

43:21 64:8,13
 66:21 67:24
 68:9
who've 67:12
William 43:5
willing 62:17
Wilson 20:7
wisdom 47:16
wish 43:11 51:6
 53:20
wishes 6:13
witness 9:19
woman 33:19
women 12:9 32:13
 41:20 66:2,9
wonderful 52:12
 66:1
Woodward 67:9
 68:3
word 5:1 57:3
words 59:23
work 6:10,11
 11:5 19:17
 25:23 26:17
 40:24 47:24
 49:22 51:11,13
 51:15 59:10
 64:19
worked 9:23 30:9
 47:17 49:24
workers 47:6
working 13:10,10
 13:12,13 14:12
 25:8 30:9 32:2
 36:17 37:16
 38:3 39:14,16
 39:21 40:15,17
 40:19 41:3,5
 42:6 47:13,20
 48:4 50:3
 60:10
wrenching 67:17
 67:17
wrong 56:12,13

Y

yard 54:16,25
 57:13 63:15,23
 63:24 64:4
yards 59:22,24
yeah 20:12 33:20
 34:3 37:6

42:11 61:17
year 9:11,15
 10:5 29:15,18
 29:25 32:7
 33:9,10 37:19
years 24:12 27:9
 44:19 61:15
 62:11
yeoman's 62:16
yielded 23:4
York 43:8
young 23:3,10
 24:10,15 28:13
 28:13 52:17
 54:11 66:22,25

\$

\$10,000.00 47:1
\$18,000.00 24:24
\$400,000.00
 62:12
\$6,000.00 24:19

1

1 1:14 69:21
1,220 37:1
1,250 36:25
1300 1:16 2:5
15th 8:8
150 31:13
19th 65:13
1982 21:11

2

2,000 11:4
2008 20:4
2012 1:20 3:2
 7:25 8:8
2013 46:24
2018 69:21
2121 61:1
219 8:19 11:3,5
28 54:19
286 54:20
29 3:2
29th 1:20

3

3:00 43:4
3:14 1:19 3:3
30 56:1
313 2:7

32 54:19
328 2:5
328A 1:16

4

4:35 68:12
40 56:1
42 54:19
4800 67:8 68:3
48226 1:18 2:6

5

5th 67:5
50 38:8 56:1
596-1835 2:7

6

6 26:20
6th 43:4
6:00 67:5,24,25
60 6:6
69 1:14

7

7042 69:18

8

8 24:25
8th 7:25
8:00 67:5,25

9

90 8:20 29:13,23
 35:8,9,10 38:5
 44:21 45:5
 46:13
911 29:16,19,22
 29:24 30:3
 31:13,14 34:18
 35:11 36:7
 38:5,24 39:7
 42:15